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the Year in review
financial highlights

Production (oz)

Total cash costs (US$)

Turnover

Gross profit

(Loss)/profit for the year

(Loss)/Earnings per share (US$)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations

Capital expenditure

Net cash (outflow)/inflow

156,474

469

112,100

34,772

17,450

0.088

(24,854)

73,947

179,699

158,885

560

150,449

45,518

(226,254)

(0.701)

23,395

146,122

(38,213)

IFRS, US$’000 (unless stated) 2008 2007
(restated)
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2008 Key events
Gross profit of US$45.5 million achieved in 2008, a 30.9% increase from 2007 

Second Subscription with Millhouse LLC completed with total proceeds forming
an essential component of the Company’s funding

Cash and short term deposits of US$173.1 million at 31 December 2008

Mnogovershinnoye (MNV) produced 158,885 ounces of gold in 2008,
an 1.5% increase from 2007 

Board and management composition significantly changed

New team continues to conduct a detailed review of all operations and development
assets to establish priorities under difficult market conditions

With agreement of Kazzinc commissioning of Novoshirokinskoye postponed to later date

Work on other development projects slowed down until possibilities for funding increase

Company confirms acquisition of additional producing assets in Russia
and the CIS countries as a strategic goal

Post Year end 

Mayskoye development project sold for a consideration of US$105 million

2009 goals
Forecasted production at MNV in the range of 155,000 – 165,000 oz of gold
at cash costs of US$535 per oz

Extension of mine life of the MNV project upon completion of exploration works

Ensure best use of cash and pursue joint venture and acquisition opportunities



Production and Results
In 2008 our production rose to 158,885 ounces – 
which was within the forecast range and exceed-
ed the 2007 production figure by 1.5%. Whilst 
this was a marginal increase, we were pleased 
to have been able to deliver our anticipated pro-
duction target. We achieved a 30.9% increase in 
gross profit of US$45.5 million (2007: US$34.8 
million), due to higher gold prices. 
Total cash costs for the year were US$560 per oz 
against US$469 per oz in 2007 as a result of sig-
nificantly higher input costs in the first part of the 
year. We are forecasting a reduction to US$535 
per oz in 2009. 
These achievements demonstrate managed 
progress for the year in terms of wide ranging 
cost cutting efforts from which the Company 
should benefit in 2009. Headcount reductions 
now feeding through show a 14% fall from 2007 
resulting in wage cost reductions. Additionally 
we have seen the cost pressures experienced in 
2007 and 2008 ease, with steel and oil inputs 
reducing and a relaxing of labour market costs as 
a result of industry wide cutbacks. 
We have cash resources of US$173.1 million  
and banks have supported us with loans of 
US$124.7 million with a further US$105 million 
to be received following the disposal of May-
skoye in April 2009. Free cash flow from gold 
sales at current prices is supporting our opera-
tional requirements.

Strategic Priorities
Early in the year the Board embarked on a stra-
tegic review of all of the Company’s operations 
and development assets in order to prioritise 
commitment and ensure best use of cash and 
debt available. We concentrated on deriving 
maximum benefit from our producing mine at 
Mnogovershinnoye (MNV) and on retaining fi-
nancial flexibility until markets improve and eq-
uity and project financing becomes more readily 
available. There is no time frame on this but the 
Board reviews markets and project options on a 
regular basis. It is a measure of the Board’s strat-
egy that the Company is weathering the financial 

crisis in an effort to emerge as a stronger busi-
ness with much improved results and a robust 
balance sheet. We are committed to finding joint 
venture partnerships or acquiring producing or 
near production gold assets. At the same time we 
are prepared to sell development assets should 
a need arise to raise additional funding. 

Mining and Development Projects
We have seen very strong results from our oper-
ating mine MNV where fourth quarter production 
was above target due to the high-grade ore cur-
rently being mined from the B3 Zone in the open 
pit. An average daily mill throughput of better 
than 3,000 tonnes per day was achieved and in-
creased equipment utilisation for both the open 
pit and underground fleets helped to achieve 
this positive result. We expect attributable gold 
production for 2009 to be between 155,000 and 
165,000 oz. Exploration work to extend the life 
of the project will continue. 
As part of the review the Board took the deci-
sion to delay major development projects. The 
commissioning of the Novoshirokinskoye mine, 
which was due to take place in December 2008 
with production starting in Q1 2009, was de-
layed with the agreement of our partner for the 
project – Kazzinc. According to current licence 
terms, the Company has to start production at 
Novoshirokinskoye by 1 October, 2009 and we 
will be reporting on this later in the year. The rea-
son for the delay is that the mine, now fully ready 
to be commissioned, is predominantly reliant on 
lead and zinc prices which have fallen substan-
tially from the highs of 2008. 
During the year we also decided to delay part of 
the works at Mayskoye until market conditions 
improved. The review of the activities and prepa-
ration for construction have been considered in 
great detail and in our view securing the required 
funding to move this development forward, will 
be very difficult to secure for some time to come. 
We received the feasibility model in early 2008 
and the design work in 2009 from Aker Solutions. 
Management reviewed the project to consider 
further efficiencies and new data on the project 
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after the audit of the reserves in accordance with 
recently received JORC reserve estimates. Having 
considered the prospects over the near term for 
developing Mayskoye, the Board decided that 
it should be sold, and we are pleased to report 
that this sale was completed on 28 April. This 
has raised additional cash resources of US$105 
million in order to pursue our strategy. 
As for Taseevskoye and our Exploration projects, 
these are progressing and the Board is of the 
opinion that all these projects are worth pursu-
ing albeit over a longer time frame.

Health & Safety and the Environment
Mining is an extremely risky and environmentally 
difficult business in which to operate, particular-
ly in Russia because of the extremes of weather, 
distance and lack of trained and appropriate re-
sources. This last point is being continually ad-
dressed with training programmes and the co-
operation with regional safety and environmental 
state agencies. The Board and management are 
conscious of the concerns and requirements of 
shareholders, employees and agencies in this 
area. The Company takes the view that every ef-
fort must be made in assessing, implementing 
and prioritising throughout the organisation the 
highest possible safety and environmental stan-
dards which are being achieved. Whilst nothing 
can be taken for granted, our record in 2008 was 
encouraging, though we regret the unfortunate 
death of one of our work force since we reported 
last year. 

Looking forward
We maintain a positive outlook for the gold price 
allowing us to keep our options open both in 
terms of the resumption of development work 
and exploration projects as well as seeking addi-
tional producing assets. Most industry analysts 
are positive on gold against a backdrop of con-
tinued nervousness in global financial markets. 
Against a backdrop of prolonged uncertainty, 
the Board will continue to take prudent steps 
to preserve the balance sheet and create value 
for our shareholders. Despite very difficult mar-

ket conditions the Board has considered what 
measures it should take, including paying divi-
dends or initiating a buy-back programme, in 
addition to implementing its existing strategy for 
the Company, but has concluded that this would 
be inappropriate at this time and not the best 
use of cash resources. As we have mentioned 
before, we continue to review opportunities to 
acquire producing gold assets in Russia and the 
CIS and any assets that do not meet our value 
expectations will be discarded. The Board and 
management with its mix of mining expertise 
and Russian knowledge and influence is strongly 
placed to pursue this growth strategy. It is also 
worth highlighting the enormous improvement 
in our operations over recent years, largely due 
to the input from Barrick Gold personnel, includ-
ing the implementation of training, safety and 
risk management systems which we appreciate. 
Whilst we will continue to benefit from Barrick’s 
expertise at Board level, with our new manage-
ment team in place, we do not expect to rely on 
Barrick input on an operational level to the same 
extent. 
The Board and management composition has 
changed significantly throughout the year and I 
wish to thank all past and present members of 
the Board and management team for the smooth 
handover of business. In particular I wish to 
thank Henry Horne the previous CEO for his ef-
forts over a number of years and wish him well 
in the future. Thanks are also due to all our staff 
for an excellent result under difficult economic 
circumstances.
Finally I would like to express my gratitude to 
our shareholders for their continued support re-
minding them that, as ever, it is the outstanding 
quality and commitment of the team, our bank-
ers and our advisers which lies behind the prog-
ress of the Group in 2008. This gives us every 
confidence in our ability to achieve our targets in 
the year ahead.

Duncan Baxter
Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

Our operational priorities during 2008, following 
a major review by the new Board, were to pre-
serve cash by finding efficiencies in all parts of 
our operation. In the light of the difficult global 
financial markets and a volatile gold price we 
took the decision to continue to achieve maxi-
mum capacity at our producing mine at MNV and 
to examine the most appropriate ways in which 
to move our development projects forward or to 
put them on hold, until conditions improved. 

Our people
Our aim to increase the efficiency of the Compa-
ny could not be achieved without the strengthen-
ing of our team of top managers. In this respect 
I would like to note several key appointments 
since the end of the year.
Brent Horochuk has joined the Company as 
Chief Operating Officer. He graduated from the 
Haileybury School of Mines in Canada and the 
Michigan Technological University with a degree 
in mining engineering and started professional 
work as an underground miner at the Sherritt 
Gordon Mines in Canada. He was mine manager 
at various mining operations in Canada, Ghana, 
Zimbabwe, employed by Noranda Minerals, Fal-
conbridge and Ashanti Goldfields. Before joining 
our Company Brent was the managing director 
of the Geita gold mine in Tanzania ( Anglogold 
Ashanti). 
vladimir kitaev joined the Company as Head 
of Logistics. He graduated from the Gubkin Rus-
sian State University of Oil and Gas with a major 
in technical engineering and holds a PhD in the 
area of maintenance of equipment. Since 1996 
he worked at the oil company Sibneft holding 
various positions including Head of the Material 
and Technical Resources Department. In 2006 
Vladimir became project manager with LLC Mill-
house before joining us at Highland Gold.
vyacheslav kozyrev was appointed Manag-
ing Director of the Mnogovershinnoye mine. He 
graduated from the Kazakh Polytechnical Insti-
tute as a mining engineer and worked as a top 
manager in several mining companies in Russia 
and Kazakstan. Before joining Highland Gold he 
was chief engineer of Magadan Silver. 
yury Ryabov was appointed as the Company’s 
new technical director and deputy COO. Mr Ry-
abov studied mining engineering at the Kazakh 
Polytechnic Institute and qualified as a special-
ist in metallurgical equipment at the Leninogorsk 
Technical School. Prior to joining the company, 
he was chief of the raw iron ore department at 
Severstal.
vadim semenov was appointed Head of Legal. 
He graduated from the Moscow State University 
in 1998 with a major in law. From 1997 to 2006 
he worked in Sibneft with responsibilities for Dis-
pute Resolution and Corporate Law. Since 2006 
Vadim worked as Deputy Head of the Legal De-
partment at LLC Millhouse.

I would also like to thank John Mcdonough, for-
mer COO, and Sergey Lysakov, former Manag-
ing Director of MNV, for their contribution to the 
development of the Company. In March 2009 
Sergey Lysakov was elected as the new head of 
administration of the Nikolaevsk district where 
our MNV project is located. We look forward to 
working closely with him in implementing joint 
social programmes. 
As at 31 December, 2008 the Highland Gold 
Group employed a total of 3,030 employees 
compared to 2,890 at the end of 2007. This in-
crease was due mostly to provide a sufficient 
workforce for the Novoshirokinskoye mine, the 
launch of which had been planned for the end 
of 2008.
In Q4 2008 in line with our aim to increase 
efficiency and given our delay in the commis-
sioning of Novoshirokinskoye, we started a pro-
gramme of optimising our headcount numbers. 
As at the end of Q1 2009 we employed 2,475 
employees. 
 
Corporate & Social Responsibility
Highland Gold Mining operates in regions with 
challenging economic and social issues, there-
fore the focus of our corporate social policy has 
been to develop and maintain long-term relations 
with local communities in order to improve living 
standards for our workers and for the population 
at large. While we have helped to maintain and 
upgrade the infrastructure in the villages and 
towns where our employees live, we have also 
been active in developing various social and 
cultural facilities, helping the socially needy, as 
well as supporting indigenous populations and 
participating in environment protection oriented 
projects. 
We continued our activities in the form of Social 
Partnership Agreements with regional and local 
authorities. In 2008 we signed an agreement 
with the Khabarovsk regional government. We 
are fulfilling our obligations under a respective 
2006 agreement signed with the Nikolaevsk 
district authorities to provide assistance in lo-
cal road repairs, purchase of fuel, construction 
and renovation work for educational, medical 
facilities and the general improvement of public 
spaces.
Similar assistance on a smaller scale, has been 
provided by the Company to the local communi-
ties at our exploration projects, in particular at 
Lyubov in the Zabaikalsky region of Russia and 
at Unkurtash in Kyrgyzstan. Our Mayskoye op-
eration continued its support for a local board-
ing school and kindergarten, and in cooperation 
with the district authorities we also started con-
struction of an educational facility. The Company 
continued providing help to specialised schools 
for blind and visually impaired children located 
in the Chita and Khabarovsk regions.

2008: Finding efficiencies
across the business
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Health, Safety & Environment (“HSE”)
As part of our commitment to responsible min-
ing we are striving to provide a safe and healthy 
work place at all sites and recognise the need to 
minimise the impact of mine processes on the 
environment.
1526 employees went through HSE training 
at all Company sites and over 500 employees 
were certified in industrial safety. The lost time 
incident frequency rate (the LTI frequency rate 
is calculated as a number of LTI’s for every 
200,000 man hours worked) reached 0.60 in 
2008, which is 10% higher than the forecasted 
figure (0.55). In the course of two months dur-
ing the year no LTI incidents were registered at 
all sites of the Group. The Taseevskoye project 
reported 12 months of zero LTI incidents total-
ing 40 months since the last registered LTI at 
the site.
There were no environmental related reportable 
incidents at our mines and projects in 2008 and 
we took a number of steps to further ensure a 
environmentally friendly operation. At MNV the 
drainage system of the tailings facility was recon-
structed in order to decrease the volume of pol-
lutants being discharged and construction works 
have been started for waste water treatment fa-
cilities at the Central Ore Body, at the road trans-
port shop and at adit #11. In the course of the 
year additional waste recycling facilities were 
also successfully installed.
At the Novoshirokinskoye mine we commis-
sioned a facility for treating domestic waste wa-
ter and initiated a programme of industrial en-
vironmental monitoring prepared and approved 
by the supervising authorities. The mine’s as-
saying lab, which is being accredited has been 
equipped with modern equipment for environ-
mental monitoring.
In 2008 we conducted 220 internal environmen-
tal audits, 90 more than in 2007. 130 supervi-
sors and specialists on the staff went through 
environmental training.

MNOGOVERSHINNOYE (MNV),
Khabarovsk region 
In 2008 in order to contain operating costs the 
main focus was on open pit mining with 635, 
855 tonnes of ore mined, about 31% more than 
in 2007. This meant we were able to achieve 
an overall ore production volume of 1,036,851 
tonnes. 
The reduction in underground mining from 
600,439 tonnes in 2007 to 400,996 was delib-
erate in order to enable additional underground 
development and the delineation of ore blocks 
for future mining. In 2008 the construction of 
the main fan unit was initiated and is scheduled 
for commissioning in H1 2009. The enhanced 
ventilation will allow the expansion of the fleet 
of underground mining equipment and there-
fore increase underground production capacity.  
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An Atlas Copco compressor with a 50 m2/min 
operation capacity was also commissioned for 
underground work in Q4. With its commission-
ing, air line losses and maintenance costs for 
the main pipelines will be significantly reduced 
in 2009.
A recalculation of reserves for the Upper Ore 
Body with a change of the cut-off grade from 2 
g/t to 1 g/t will increase the tonnage capacity of 
the open pit. In 2008 overburden stripping start-
ed at the Flank Ore Body which is scheduled for 
development in 2009. 
The process plant treated 1,039,977 tonnes 
of ore which constitutes an increase of 6.43 
% compared to 2007 with an average recovery 
rate of 88.1%. In Q3 2008 the process plant 
was supplemented by a separate gravitational 
recovery circuit with the subsequent cyanida-
tion of gravity concentrates. This facilitated the 
treatment of a greater amount of refractory ore 
and maintained a stable throughput recovery 
figure. In 2008 a third heavy-duty thickener for 
the process plant was contracted and designed. 
The installation of this thickener in 2009 will al-
low us to increase the throughput gold recovery 
and also facilitate the upgrading of the two ex-
isting thickeners.
We continued to upgrade our fleet of equipment 
for our open pit and underground operations 
whilst increasing the efficiency of its use and im-
proving the procurement process as a whole. 

Production costs
Cash operating costs in 2008 were US$502 per 
ounce (2007 restated: US$421), total cash costs 
were US$560 per ounce (2007 restated: US$469) 
and total production costs were US$642 per 
ounce (2007 restated: US$545). Increased unit 
costs were predominantly associated with high-
er prices for fuels and lubricants, energy, mate-
rials, metal products and labor costs and were 
affected by higher royalties due to the stronger 
gold price.

Capital Costs
During 2008, the Company invested US$13.0 
million at Mnogovershinnoye. This included 
US$6.0 million for the purchase of additional 
production equipment, US$6.3 million on con-
struction work at the site and US$0.7 million for 
design and engineering.

Outlook
It is anticipated that gold production for the mine in 
2009 will be in the range of 155,000 - 165,000 oz.

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE,
Zabaikalsky region
During 2008 most of the construction works for 
production and infrastructure facilities necessary 
for the commissioning of the mine were complet-

Stripping m3 
Underground meters
Mining
Open pit tonnes
   g/t
Underground tonnes
  g/t
Total Ore Mined tonnes
   g/t
Ore Processing tonnes
Average grade g/t
Recovery %
Gold Production ounces
Gold Sales ounces

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

1,293,831
4,752

312,258
5.0

179,821
4.6

492,079
5.0

484,092
5.0

88.1
68,813
81,036

867,000
4,740

141,086
5.74

261,189
4.79

402,275
5.12

381,201
5.2

91.26
58,196
62,643

1,055,964
4,607

323,597
6.4

221,175
4.6

544,772
5.6

555,885
5.7

88.1
90,002
83,180

1,119,000
5,059

344,061
7.25

339,250
3.68

683,311
5.48

595,938
5.77

88.91
98,294
86,768

2,349,795
9,359

635,855
5.70

400,996
4.60

1,036,851
5.3

1,039,977
5.4

88.1
158,885
164,216

1,986,000
9,799

485,147
6.81

600,439
4.16

1,085,586
5.35

977,139
5.54

89.84
156,474
149,411

MNV Operations summary

6 months ending
30 June

6 months ending
31 December

12 months ending
31 December

2008 20082008 2007 20072007
Stoping Development

Measurement unit 
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ed together with the planned mine development. 
In total 80,000 tonnes of ore were stored as a 
stockpile. In December 2008, due to the dramat-
ic fall in the zinc and lead prices it was decided to 
postpone the commissioning of the mine.
In compliance with licence terms the Novoshirokin-
skoye mine is to begin operations in October 2009 
and in the case of a further delay management 
shall consider obtaining a licence extension.
On 1 January 2009, in accordance with the 
Shareholders Agreement, the operational man-
agement of the mine was taken over by Kazzinc, 
our partner for the project. 
Micromine Consulting has completed a reserves 
reconciliation for the Novoshirokinskoye mine 
according to JORC standards. 

Capital Costs
We invested US$30.3 million at Novoshirokin-
skoye in 2008 representing our 50% share. This 
comprised US$12.4 million of development op-
erating costs (salaries, electricity, fuel, safety 
and overheads), US$0.3 million spent on design 
and engineering and US$0.1 million on the drill-
ing programme, US$13.2 million spent on con-
struction and US$4.3 million on the purchase of 
production equipment. 

MaYSKOYE,
Chukotka region
Various technical solutions for the project were 
analysed based on a detailed review and new 
data after the audit of reserves completed by 
Micromine Consulting. Following this it was de-
cided that under present market conditions it 
will be difficult to secure the necessary funding 
to develop the project and it has subsequently 
been sold in April 2009.

Capital Costs
In 2008 we invested US$85.9 million at May-
skoye. This comprised US$29.2 million of de-
velopment operating costs (salaries, electricity, 
fuel, safety and overheads), US$13.4 million 
spent on design and engineering and US$2.5 
million on the drilling programme, US$19.6 mil-
lion spent on construction and US$21.2 million 
on the purchase of production equipment. 
It was acquired in 2003 for a total consideration 
of US$34.9 million. During the period from ac-
quisition to date of sale, the Company’s invest-
ment expenditures on the project have totaled 
US$179.7 million.

TaSEEVSKOYE,
Zabailkalsky region
An extension to the mining license for Taseevskoye 
has been granted, extending the requirement for 
plant start up to 1 June 2013 which makes the 
project more manageable from a funding and 
resource point of view. Other licence agreement 
milestones have been adjusted accordingly.
The cut-off grade study for ore is currently under 
review with the State Reserves Committee (GKZ). 
The cut-off grade study for the ZIF-1 tailings was 
reviewed in March 2009 by the Chita territorial 
branch of GKZ which approved the provisional 
cut-off grades and reserves for this industrial de-
posit. A permit for semi-industrial stoping (with 
annual production capacity up to 1.5 million 
tonnes of ore) to confirm the heap leaching re-
covery technology has been received.
Works on preparation of the feasibility study are 
in progress. The entire 2008 programme for met-
allurgical testing has been completed.

Capital Costs
We invested US$7.2 million at Taseevskoye in 
2008. This comprised US$5.3 million of develop-
ment operating costs (salaries, electricity, fuel, 
safety and overheads), US$0.9 million spent on 
design and engineering and US$0.1 million on 
the drilling programme, US$0.6 million spent on 
construction and US$0.3 million on the purchase 
of production equipment. 

EXPLORaTION
In 2008 we intensified our commitment to explo-
ration and spent more than US$9.7 million on our 
exploration projects representing an increase of 
29% from 2007. Overall the work spent on our 
exploration projects during the year yielded en-
couraging results corroborating our confidence 
in the development potential of these projects. 
Highlights of the work done at the projects are 
listed below.
 
BELaYa GORa,
Khabarovsk region
In compliance with the licence schedule we suc-
cessfully completed in 2008 all necessary tech-
nical work for the Russian pre-feasibility study 
including 7,500 metres of resource definition 
drilling at the Stockwork target and hydrogeo-
logical and geotechnical test work at both the 
Pologaya and Stockwork targets. We continued to 
obtain positive assay results confirming our geo-



12 Highland Gold Mining Limited

logical model for a substantial open-pit mineable 
gold resource. We received final metallurgical 
test work results for two 300 kg samples which 
underline the excellent properties of the Belaya 
Gora ore indicating better than 87% (Pologaya) 
and 85% (Stockwork) gold recoveries by gravita-
tional processing. By the end of 2008 a reserve 
calculation and cut-off grade study were submit-
ted to the State Committee on Reserves (GKZ) for 
review. Based on an ore grade range of 2.0 to 4.6 
g/t our calculated reserves in the С1+С2 Russian 
reserve category range from 27.1 to 33.7 tonnes 
of gold. We expect to register a figure within that 
range with GKZ during Q2 2009.
In 2009 we will explore in detail the operational 
synergies with our nearby Mnogovershinnoye 
mine in order to maximise the economic feasibil-
ity of the future Belaya Gora mine.

LYUBOV,
Zabaikalsky region 
Continuing our exploration work of 2007 we con-
centrated on two targets, the Evgraf zone within 
the Lyubov gold trend in the south, and the Khav-
erga ore field in the north of the licence area. At 
the Evgraf zone we completed 9,350 metres of 
resource definition drilling which targeted stock-
work-type gold mineralisation hosted within the 
Evgraf granite stock and its surrounding shales. 
Overall positive drilling results from our 2008 
programme combined with previous exploration 
data substantiate a geological resource poten-
tial for a gold deposit at Evgraf holding 29 mil-
lion tonnes of ore at 1.45 g/t. In addition, initial 
metallurgical testwork which we completed on a 
300 kg composite ore sample from Evgraf also 
indicates favourable ore properties with a better 
than 80% gold recovery by gravitation. 
At the Khaverga ore field we completed 1,500 
metres of trenching and sampling across the 
most prospective sections of a mineralised 
dyke swarm which coincides with a wide gold 
anomaly identified during the 2007 exploration 
programme. Sampling results indicate the pres-
ence of non-economic gold mineralisation which 
does not warrant further exploration work in the 
Khaverga area.
Apart from additional analytical work, reporting 
to regulatory authorities will represent a major 
component of the exploration programme for the 
Lyubov project in 2009 as prescribed by the li-
cense. A report on exploration results to date will 
be prepared including a calculation of a P1+C2 
resource. Likewise, a new “Project” outlining our 
future exploration programme at Lyubov will be 
compiled and submitted for approval to the reg-
ulatory authorities by the end of 2009.

UNKURTaSH,
Kyrgyzstan
In 2008 exploration work at the Unkurtash proj-
ect included work at three adjoining prospects 
which together form an elongated gold minera-
lised belt more than 4,000 metres long and 250-
500 metres wide with a vertical extent of at least 

350 metres. The Unkurtash and Sarytube pros-
pects host the bulk of the gold mineralisation 
which grades on average between 1.5 - 1.8 g/t 
and occurs within parallel zones of steeply dip-
ping stockworks in granitic rocks, whereas the 
skarn-type Karatube prospect hosts higher-grade 
gold mineralisation in the 3 - 4 g/t range. 
In 2008 we completed 5,200 metres of RC drill-
ing for resource definition at the main Unkurtash 
prospect, and 3,200 metres of diamond test 
drilling at the Karatube prospect. Positive assay 
results to date have corroborated our previous 
model that the combined potential in all three 
prospects amounts to no less than 100 tonnes 
of gold but the mineralised areas remain in large 
parts still unconstrained.
An additional 6,000 metres of RC drilling for re-
source definition (C1+C2+P1) and 2,000 metres 
of diamond drilling has been planned for the 
2009 exploration season which is expected to 
further substantiate our resource model and at 
the same time should reveal additional resource 
potential.

MNOGOVERSHINNOYE,
Khabarovsk region
Our near-mine exploration programme at 
Mnogovershinnoye in 2008 was directed at dis-
covering additional resources for underground 
and open-pit operations and included more than 
4,000 metres of diamond drilling in addition to 
trenching and a geophysical survey. Exploration 
drilling peripheral to the current open-pit suc-
cessfully intercepted substantial ore-grade gold 
mineralisation, confirming good potential for 
additional open pit reserves. At the Valunistoye 
prospect our re-evaluation of previous drilling 
results from 32 holes defined an elongated 16 
metre wide ore body grading 5.0 g/t which holds 
the potential for an additional 130,000 ounces 
of open-pit mineable reserves grading between 
3.0-7.0 g/t, thus doubling the originally defined 
gold reserves at Valunistoye.
In order to fully exploit the mineral potential of 
the Mnogovershinnoye deposit our near-mine 
exploration efforts will continue to be an integral 
part of the mining operations.

ISKa,
Khabarovsk Region
Iska features strong geological similarities with 
Belaya Gora and several occurrences of previ-
ously known gold prospects underline the good 
potential of this grass roots exploration property. 
In 2008 we completed an initial reconnaissance 
exploration programme which included stream 
sampling across the entire license area and geo-
physical and geochemical surveys with more 
than 2,000 samples taken. Results received to 
date define several local gold anomalies in the 
20 - 50 ppb range. 
Final analytical data is to be received in early 
2009 and will be used to identify targets and 
draw up a programme for future follow-up explo-
ration which will include trenching and drilling.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
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MaYa & INIKaN,
Khabarovsk region
In 2008 we completed a geochemical soil-sam-
pling survey with the collection of 2,150 samples 
with the objective of testing a pronounced gold 
anomaly which we identified in the course of our 
grass root exploration programme in 2006/2007. 
The results from the follow-up work in 2008 
could not corroborate the good potential identi-
fied earlier but substantiated only a minor gold 
anomaly not indicating a gold deposit of signifi-
cant size. Further exploration at the property is 
therefore not warranted and the property license 
is being returned to the state. 

SOVINOYE,
Chukotka region.
During the second half of 2008 we received and 
evaluated final assay results from a 2,800 metre 
drilling programme and 1,900 metre trenching 
programme which had been completed in 2007 
and tested a 1.2 sq km gold-mineralised zone 
within the hinge region of a large fold. 
Though the drilling results did indeed confirm 
the presence of a gold-mineralised system the 
overall low grade and poor continuity of the gold 
mineralisation do not support a gold deposit of 
significant economic interest. Further explora-
tion at the property is therefore not warranted 
and the property license has been returned to 
the state. 

EXPLORaTION OUTLOOK
The 2009 exploration programme draws on 

the results from our previous work at our vari-
ous projects and is in line with the Company’s 
prioritisation strategy and prudent approach to 
expenditure. At the Unkurtash project in Kyrgyz-
stan, now our most promising exploration asset, 
8,000 metres of resource-definition drilling in 
2009 should further validate the multi-million 
ounce potential of this project. At Belaya Gora we 
are going to register a reserve with the GKZ while 
at Lyubov the focus will be on resource modelling 
for the Evgraf target and design of a new “Proj-
ect” in order to further substantiate a significant 
resource potential. We will continue investigat-
ing several ore zones at MNV with the objective 
of finding additional open-pit resources. 

CONCLUSION
Despite the difficult market conditions experi-
enced in 2008, we preserved our strong cash po-
sition by slowing down development work while 
at the same time ensuring that our operating 
mine was producing on target and with increased 
efficiency. We have also strengthened our opera-
tional team with key new appointments. We feel 
strongly that the measures taken by the Compa-
ny stand us in good stead to be more flexible and 
more reactive to markets. I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank the Board, my management 
team and all our employees for their dedication 
and hard work in a very challenging year. 

valery oyf
Chief executive officer

Profile 
E480 at the 
Unkurtash 
exploration 
project
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CHIEF FINANCIAl OFFICER’S REPORT

Highland Gold was not immune to the effects of 
the economic turmoil in 2008. It suffered a net 
loss after tax of US$226.3 million in 2008 com-
pared to a net profit of US$17.5 million (restated) 
for the prior year. The main reasons for this were 
an impairment loss at Novoshirokinskoye which 
amounted to US$79.5 million, an impairment 
loss at Mayskoye which amounted to US$100.3 
million and a foreign exchange loss of US$74.9 
million (2007: US$0.8 million) predominately 
associated with the impact of the depreciation 
of sterling against the US dollar on our sterling 
deposits. 

The impairment charge was recorded to reflect 
the Board’s revised valuation of the Novoshi-
rokinskoye mine. In H2 2008 most of the prepa-
ratory works for the commissioning of the mine 
were completed. However, due to the dramatic 
fall in world metal prices and specifically lead 
and zinc, it was decided to postpone the com-
missioning. This led to the Board’s decision that 
an impairment was required in order to correctly 
adjust the value of the Novoshirokinskoye mine. 
In addition the net realisable value test at No-
voshirokinskoye indicated the loss of value of 
the Novoshirokinskoye work in progress balance 
which has been recognised in the amount of 
US$1.7 million representing the 48.3% of High-
land Gold’s share in Novoshirokinskoye.

On 28 April 2009, the Group signed a sale agree-
ment with a group of Russian companies, one of 
which is JSC Polymetal for the sale of the May-
skoye development project for a cash consider-
ation of US$105 million. This will help the Com-
pany to pursue its growth strategy of investing 
in early production assets, strategic exploration 
in Russia and CIS countries and utilising cash 
resources in developing its other assets. The 
impairment charge associated with Mayskoye 
in the amount of US$107.9 million (US$100.3 
million after tax) was recorded to reflect the de-
crease of the recoverable amount estimated as 
a fair value.

The increase in foreign exchange losses was due 
to the considerable devaluation of the Russian 
Rouble by 19.7% in 2008 (2007: strengthening 
by 6.8%) and of the pound sterling by 37.9% 
(2007: strengthening by 2.0%). US$64.5 million 
of the total foreign exchange loss was attribut-
able to the movement and translation of sterling 
denominated deposits. 

Turnover for the Group in 2008 was US$150.4 
million compared to US$112.1 million in the pri-
or year. The increase was due to our “no hedge” 
policy which allowed the Group to fully partici-
pate in stronger gold prices and also higher pro-
duction at MNV as a result of various mine ini-
tiatives implemented in 2007. The average price 
per ounce of gold sold was US$870 which repre-
sents a 22.9% increase compared to 2007.

The Group’s costs of sales increased by 35.7%, 
or US$27.6 million compared to the prior year. 
Cash operating costs per ounce at MNV rose 
by 19.2% to US$502 in 2008 (2007-restated: 
US$421 per ounce). Increased unit costs were 
predominantly associated with higher prices for 
fuels and lubricants, energy, materials, metal 
products and labour costs. 

These costs were affected by higher royalties due 
to the stronger gold price and in combination 
this increased our total cash costs to US$560 per 
ounce (2007-restated: US$469 per ounce). Total 
production costs were US$642 per ounce com-
pared to US$545 per ounce (restated) in 2007.

Administrative costs increased by US$1.7 million 
from US$16.4 million to US$18.1 million due to 
the recognition of the prepayments allowance 
charge at Mayskoye.

In 2008 after obtaining negative drilling results, 
the capitalised costs related to the exploration 
projects Sovinoye (US$3.9 million) and Maya-
Inikan (US$1.4 million) have been written off to 
the income statement. The written off exploration 
expenses associated with the Vozdvizhenskoye 
and Malo-Fedorovskoye licenses were US$0.8 
million in 2007.

The income tax credit was US$5.0 million com-
pared to the tax expense in the prior period of 
US$4.7 million (restated). The tax credit con-
sists of US$6.8 million of current tax expenses 
(US$5.3 million current income tax charge at 
MNV, US$0.8 million at RDM, US$0.1 million at 
RDM Logistics and $0.6 million at Stanmix In-
vestment), US$3.7 million of a tax credit as a re-
versal of a tax provision in the prior period and of 
US$8.1 million as a deferred tax credit.

Retaining financial flexibility
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The entities of the Group at the development or 
exploration stage suffered a tax loss during the 
period. These tax losses cannot be recognised 
until such time as there is sufficient evidence of 
future taxable profits in those entities, against 
which the losses can be utilised. In total, US$1.7 
million (2007-restated: US$7.1 million) of tax 
losses arose during the period, which were not 
recognised. The application of this policy may 
lead to previously unrecognised deferred tax as-
sets being recognised in the future, as projects 
are determined to be economically viable, result-
ing in a credit to income taxes.

The Group’s cash inflow from operating activi-
ties in 2008 was US$23.4 million compared to 
an outflow of US$24.9 million in 2007. The cash 
flow contribution was a result of higher revenues 
from gold sales, decreases in inventories, trade 
receivables and an increase in trade and other 
payables.

Highland Gold continued to advance its develop-
ment project pipeline having invested US$146.1 
million in capital expenditures (2007-restated: 
US$73.9 million) comprising US$85.9 million 
at Mayskoye, US$30.3 million at Novoshirokin-
skoye and US$7.2 million at Taseevskoye. In 
addition to our development project pipeline, 
the Group invested US$13.0 million at MNV and 
US$9.7 million in advancing the Company’s ex-
ploration projects and other Group entities.

The Second Subscription with Millhouse LLC 
was completed on 15 January, 2008. As a result 
65,050,000 shares were issued to Primerod In-
ternational Limited, a subsidiary of Millhouse 
LLC, for a consideration of US$192.5 million. In 
total the aggregate proceeds of the Millhouse 
LLC subscription amounted to US$392.7 million. 
These proceeds formed an essential component 
of Highland Gold’s funding, allowing the Compa-
ny to go forward with its development programme 
and reducing its reliance on debt financing.

The net financing cash inflows were US$148.5 
million in 2008. The main triggers were the re-
ceipt of US$192.5 million as a result of the 
Second Subscription with Millhouse LLC having 
been netted off with the share issue costs paid 
in 2008 in the amount of US$9.4 million, the 
drawdown of bank loans with Gazprombank for 
US$15 million and MDM bank for US$20 mil-
lion; bank overdrafts for US$9.3 million and 

the receipt from Kazzinc of US$14.2 million as 
Highland Gold’s share of 48.3% in the Novoshi-
rokinskoye project. Financing cash outflows rep-
resented US$79.5 million of bank loans repay-
ments, interest and lease payments of US$11.5 
million and US$2.1 million.

Cash and short term deposits at 31 December, 
2008 were US$173.1 million versus US$211.3 
million at 31 December, 2007 while the net cash 
position of the Group totaled US$18.9 million 
versus US$34.9 million at 31 December, 2007. 
The net cash of the Group includes cash at bank, 
bank borrowings, 48.3% in Novoshirokinskoye 
receipt from Kazzinc and long term finance lease 
liabilities. The negative change of US$16.0 mil-
lion in net cash was caused by the decrease in 
cash balances which amounted to US$38.2 mil-
lion and a reduction in loan liabilities by US$22.2 
million. 

In 2008 the Group completed an early repayment 
of a loan received from Gazprombank in 2006 in 
the amount of US$15 million and fully repaid 
corporate bonds in the amount of US$30.6 mil-
lion. In H2 2008 the Group also completed the 
debt restructuring by raising US$35 million of 
long term debt facilities, including a US$20 mil-
lion facility with MDM Bank and a US$15 million 
facility with Gazprombank. 

After the year end, in March 2009 the Group re-
ceived a new long term loan from UnicreditBank 
in the amount of US$10 million. The early refi-
nancing of the Gazprombank facility and repay-
ment of the corporate bond will see the effective 
maturity profile of all of Highland Gold’s facilities 
extended to late 2010 and 2011. This debt re-
structuring was a key element of Highland Gold’s 
capital management plan and aligns the com-
pany’s debt maturities with its business plans. 
The new facilities reduce Highland Gold’s cost of 
debt and provide greater flexibility which is bet-
ter suited to a growth focused company. Addi-
tionally, this will allow the Company to reclassify 
these debt facilities as long term borrowings in 
future regulatory accounting filings.

tatyana Breeva
Chief financial officer
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dIRECTORS’ REPORT

the Directors of Highland Gold Mining Limited have pleasure in submitting their annual 
Directors’ Report together with the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2008. 

Review of activities

Highland Gold Mining Limited (“Highland Gold” or the “Company”) was incorporated in Jersey on 
23 May 2002 for the principal activity of building a portfolio of gold mining operations within the 
Russian Federation. These activities, group structure and operating companies are described more 
fully in the section on page 66 of this annual report. The Chairman’s Report and the Chief Executive 
Officer’s Report explain in detail the business developments during 2008 and the future prospects. 
The Company’s shares are quoted on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.

Results and Dividends

The overview of the Group’s results for the period to 31 December 2008 are given in the Chief Fi-
nancial Officer’s review on page 14 of this report. The Group’s loss for the year of US$226.3 million 
(2007: restated profit of US$17.5 million) will be taken to reserves. The Directors do not recommend 
the payment of a dividend on the ordinary shares.

accounting Policies 

Highland Gold’s consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union with the US dollar as its report-
ing currency.

Directors and their Interests

The Directors in office during the year and their interests, and of persons connected with them, in the 
ordinary shares of £0.001 per share of the Company, and not reported previously and any changes 
since then to the date of this report are shown below:

Persons connected with Eugene Shvidler, Non-executive Director of the Company, acquired 
26,020,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 per share in the capital of the Company on 7 May, 2008 at a 
price of US$3.048 per share. No other directors have an interest in the capital of the Company. For 
those Directors who left the Board during the year, their dealings were previously reported. 

The Company has adopted a share dealing code for Directors and relevant employees, which pre-
scribes a strict permissions procedure to be followed. 

Corporate Governance

The Directors have implemented many of the main provisions of the principles of good governance 
and code of best practice under the Combined Code on Corporate Governance having regard to the 
size and nature of the activities of the Company. The Board is assisted by a number of Committees 
with delegated authority to review key business risks, in addition to the financial risks facing the 
Group in the operations of its business. 

Duncan Baxter
Ivan Koulakov
Eugene Shvidler

300,000
750,000

–

20,000
20,372,500

–

20,000
18,872,500
26,020,000

Director Ordinary share
At 31/12/2007

Ordinary shares
At 31/12/2008

Available Options
At 31/12/2008
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The Board

The Board currently has eight directors of which all are non-executive. There are three non-executive 
Directors, the Chairman, Terry Robinson and Ivan Koulakov, who bring an independent outlook to 
the Board and provide a balance to those Directors who cannot be regarded as independent. Eu-
gene Shvidler, Eugene Tenenbaum and Olga Pokrovskaya work for Millhouse LLC, which together 
with persons connected with it, owns 32% of the issued share capital of the Company. Alex Davidson 
and Nick Nikolakakis are executives of Barrick Gold Corporation of Canada, which has an interest of 
20.4%. The Chairman is a non-executive independent Chairman. 

The Board meets on a regular basis to review the performance and the business of the Group, ensure 
that financing needs are appropriate and consider development and acquisition opportunities. Dur-
ing the year there where 14 Board and Board Committee meetings.

Where appropriate the Directors have full access to the Company Secretary and independent pro-
fessional advice at the Company’s expense. The Company has in place appropriate Directors and 
Officers Liability insurance. 

Eugene Shvidler, Eugene Tenenbaum and Olga Pokrovskaya were appointed as non-executive Direc-
tors and Henry Horne, Managing Director and Scott Perry, Finance Director, resigned from the Board, 
on 28 January 2008. Ivan Koulakov, became a non-executive in March 2008. Terry Robinson was ap-
pointed as a non-executive director and Chairman of the Audit Committee on 25 April 2008. Duncan 
Baxter stood down from the Board on 29 April 2008, but was re-appointed as Chairman on 23 July 
2008 at the time when James Cross resigned as Chairman. Tim Wadeson and Christopher Palmer-
Tomkinson also resigned from the Board on 23 July 2008.

The Board undertook a self assessment review in early 2009 from which there were no material is-
sues arising. The Board will continue to undertake a review on a bi-annual basis provided there are 
no major changes to the Board at that time rendering any review ineffective.

Mr Terry Robinson is the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director who is available to meet with 
major shareholders. 

It is a requirement that all Directors retire by rotation at least every three years and new appointments 
be made at the earliest opportunity at the next Annual General Meeting. Alex Davidson and Ivan 
Koulakov are due to retire by rotation and offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. Having recently joined the Board, Duncan Baxter offers himself for election at the 
same Annual General Meeting.

The profiles of the Non-Executive Directors are to be found on page 21 of this report.

audit Committee 

The Audit Committee consists of three Non-Executive Directors and is chaired by Terry Robinson. 
The Audit Committee met three times in 2008 to consider the annual, interim financial statements 
and the audit programme. The Executive Directors are invited to attend meetings as appropriate. 
There are defined Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee which are reviewed by the Board on 
an annual basis and are available for inspection at the Annual General Meeting. The Committee is 
responsible for ensuring that the appropriate financial reporting procedures are properly maintained 
and reported upon, reviewing accounting policies and meeting the auditors and reviewing their re-
ports relating to the accounts and internal control systems. The Audit Committee also considers bud-
gets and has agreed an authorisation and expenditure policy. The Audit Committee is responsible 
for monitoring key risks and has implemented through the internal audit department, a process for 
reporting on, and monitoring, those risks. During the year the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr 
Baxter, as interim Audit Committee Chairman following the tragic death of David Fish. Mr. Robertson 
took over as the Audit Committee Chairman on 25 April 2008. The other members were Ms Pokrovs-
kaya and Mr Nikolakakis. Audit Committee members meet with the management and Auditors on a 
regular basis. 
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Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

The Board agreed during the year to amalgamate the Remuneration and Nomination Committees as 
the members were and are the same. The Committee consists of four Non-Executive Directors, Mr 
Baxter, as Chairman, Mr Davidson, Ms Pokrovskaya and Mr Robinson. It is responsible for reviewing 
the performance of the executive management and, where appropriate, other senior executives, and 
for determining their appropriate levels of remuneration. It makes recommendations on the appoint-
ment of Directors, Chairman of Committees, senior management and directors to Group subsidiary 
companies as appropriate and keeps the composition of the Board under review. The Committee 
makes recommendations to the Board, within defined terms of reference, which the Board reviews 
at least annually. The Committee also examines fees in relation to non-executive remuneration and 
committee Chairmen. The Committee had three meetings during the year at which all members were 
present. Details of the directors’ remuneration are given on page 20. The Committee has considered 
and recommended to the Board the election and re-election of the Chairman, Mr Davidson and Mr 
Koulakov at the forth coming AGM.

Health, Safety
and Environmental Committee 

The Board has established a Health, Safety and Environmental Committee which is chaired by Mr 
Davidson. The other member of the Committee is Ms Pokrovskaya. The Committee considers with 
management, the development and training requirements and regulatory compliance of health, safe-
ty and environmental issues. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board, within agreed 
terms of reference which the Board reviews at least annually. The Committee met twice during the 
year. Details of the progress and performance of the Company in respect of health, safety and the 
environment are given in the Chief Executive Officer’s report on page 8.

Other Committees

In addition, the Group management company, OOO Russdragmet (“RDM”), in Russia has established 
a risk and control platform through regular meetings. The Executive Committee meets weekly. The 
members include management of RDM functional departments and the General Directors of the mine 
sites. It is chaired by Valery Oyf the Chief Executive Officer at RDM. Its role is to ensure the implemen-
tation of decisions taken by the Board and committees, to manage the day to day operational activi-
ties and to make recommendations to the Board. It delegates part of its duties to three internal RDM 
committees; the Risk Committee; Budget Committee and Investment Committee.

Internal controls

The Directors have overall responsibility for the Group’s internal control and effectiveness in safe-
guarding the assets of the Group. Internal controls can only provide a reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatements or loss. The processes used by the Board to review the 
effectiveness of the internal controls are through the Audit Committee. 

Relations with Shareholders

The Group’s website provides full information on the business, results and personnel and is used 
for updating Shareholders and the market with key developments and announcements (www.high-
landgold.com). Shareholders are encouraged to use the Annual General Meeting as a forum in which 
to communicate and participate and due notice of the Annual General Meeting is provided to all 
Shareholders. The Company also has investor and public relations functions which are managed by 
independent service providers.

Substantial shareholdings

As of close of business on 17 April 2009, the Company had been notified of the following interests, 
other than Directors’ interests, which amounted to three per cent or more of the issued share capital 
of the Company; 

dIRECTORS’ REPORT

32.57%
20.37%

4.58%
3.56%
3.17%

105,910,000
66,235,264
14,911,883
11,586,215
10,313,415

Primerod International Limited
Barrick Gold Corporation of Canada
Fleming Family & Partners (Liechtenstein) AG
Standard Life Investments Limited
Colonial First State Asset Management

Name of Holder Number Percentage
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Going concern

Having made suitable enquiries, the Directors believe that it is appropriate to adopt the going con-
cern basis in preparing the financial statements as, the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

auditors

A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP, who have expressed a willingness to con-
tinue as auditors of the Company, will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. All of the Direc-
tors have taken steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information required by the Company’s Auditors.

New articles

The Board has taken the decision to update the Articles of Association of the Company which will 
be put before the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The principal changes are to reflect 
changes to Company Law and practice. The Articles have not been updated since the Company was 
incorporated in 2002. The main changes allow for greater flexibility in respect of borrowing powers, 
shorter notice periods for shareholder meetings and electronic communications. The full terms of the 
new Articles are available for inspection on request from the date of the Notice of the AGM, from the 
registered office and a copy is posted on the Company’s website, until the close of the AGM.

annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 11.00 am on Thursday 18 June 2009 at 26 New Street, St 
Helier, Jersey JE2 3RA. The notice convening the Annual General Meeting is as set out on page 68 of 
this Annual Report.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the annual Report
and financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.

Jersey Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year in 
accordance with any generally accepted accounting principles. The financial statements of the com-
pany are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the 
profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors 
should:

– select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

– make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

–  specify which generally accepted accounting principles have been adopted in their preparation;  
and 

–  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping accounting records which are sufficient to show and ex-
plain its transactions and are such as to disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements prepared by the 
company comply with the requirements of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. They are also respon-
sible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the pre-
vention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial infor-
mation included on the company’s website. Legislation in Jersey governing the preparation and dis-
semination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

By Order of the Board
29 April 2009
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Remuneration Report

There are no Executive Directors. Executive management have remuneration that currently comprises 
basic salary and bonus. In addition there is the Unapproved share option scheme and the Long 
Term Incentive Plan which included stock appreciation rights (SARs) and other benefits for execu-
tive management and other key personnel. Both these schemes are managed by the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee. The SARs scheme is no longer applicable as the outstanding SARs of 
468,924 at a price of 257.75 pence expired at 31 December 2008.

During the year the Board considered and agreed that for the time being, there would be no further 
grant of options under the Unapproved share option scheme as it was felt that in Russia it was inap-
propriate. To incentivise management and employees was through a bonus scheme, currently of 
a discretionary nature. It was further agreed that for those still in the scheme their options would 
vest and that 50% would be exercisable up and until 30 September 2009 at which point thereafter 
all options could be exercised to the seventh anniversary from when the options were granted. The 
number of options outstanding at 31 December 2008 were 2,500,000.

The Company does not operate a pension scheme for its employees or the executive Directors.

The remuneration paid to the current Directors in the financial period to 31 December 2008 was as 
follows:

The remuneration paid to the Directors who retired during the financial period to 31 December 2008 
was as follows;

The Group has entered into letters of appointment with the Directors all of which are reviewed on an 
annual basis and none have an expiry date or notice period of more than one year. The Remuneration 
Committee and Board agreed not to increase remuneration for the ensuing year or pay any ex-gratia 
payments for additional work undertaken during the year.
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Duncan Baxter
Ivan Koulakov
Alex Davidson
Eugene Shvidler
Eugene Tenenbaum
Olga Pokrovskaya
Terry Robinson
Nick Nikolakakis

190,000
820,000

–
–
–
–
–
–

268,330
79,167
66,666
66,666
66,666
66,666

154,165
66,666

James Cross
Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson
Tim Wadeson
Scott Perry
Henry Horne

204,166
80,833
64,583
24,475
35,752

900,000
135,000

85,000
145,628
525,000

US$
2008

US$
2008

US$
2007

US$
2007
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Alex Davidson 
non-executive Director
Alex Davidson has a Masters Degree in Economic 
Geology from McGill University. He has been a 
senior officer of Barrick Gold Corporation of Canada 
since October, 1993 and currently holds the title of 

Executive Vice President responsible for exploration 
and corporate development. Prior to that he was Vice 
President of Metall Mining Corporation. He is currently 
a Non-Executive of QGX Ltd of Canada. He joined the 
Company in April 2005.

ivan koulakov
non-executive Director
Ivan Koulakov graduated from the Moscow State 
Technical University (Bauman) with a degree in 
Mechanical Engineering and from the State Financial 
Academy with a degree in Finance and Banking. In 
1995, he became Chairman of ZAO Oil Finance, a 

company of the Sibneft group. In 1998, Mr. Koulakov 
became Chairman of ZAO MNV. Since then together with 
his management team he focused on the development 
of MNV as well as expanding into other development 
projects. Mr. Koulakov has been on the Board of 
Highland Gold since 2002. 

nicholas nikolakakis
non-executive Director
Nicholas Nikolakakis has been with Barrick since April 
2006 where he holds the position of Vice President, 
Corporate Finance. He was previously Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer at Placer Dome, Canada. 
His knowledge is drawn from senior financial roles 
within some of Canada’s leading energy and mining 

corporations, combining twelve years of experience in 
mining and energy acquisitions analysis, operations 
implementation and development, strategy and 
change, and all areas of corporate finance. His current 
responsibilities with Barrick include, capital raising in 
the public and private markets, management of the 
balance sheet and long term planning objectives. He 
joined the Company in December 2006.

olga pokrovskaya
non-executive Director
Olga Pokrovskaya graduated with honors from the State 
Financial Academy. She served as Senior Audit Manager 
at accountancy Arthur Andersen from 1991 until 1997. 
She subsequently joined Russian oil major Sibneft, 

where she held several key finance positions including 
serving as Head of Corporate Finance from 2004. In July 
2006, Ms. Pokrovskaya took up her current role as Head 
of Corporate Finance at Millhouse LLC. She joined the 
Highland Gold Board of Directors in January 2008.

terry Robinson
senior independent Director,
Chairman of the Audit Committee
Terry Robinson has 40 years international business 
experience. He was 20 years with Lonrho PLC, the 
international mining and trading group. Since 1998 
he has been variously occupied with international 
business including natural resources in the UK, Russia, 
the CIS and Brazil. He is a non-executive director of the 

LSE GDR quoted Evraz Group, the largest Russian steel 
producer. He is a non-executive director of the Toronto 
listed Katanga Mining Limited with copper and cobalt 
mining operations in the DRC and until recently was 
managing director of Interactive Records Management 
Ltd, a private equity controlled investment. He is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
England and Wales. He joined the Highland Gold Board 
in April 2008.

eugene shvidler
non-executive Director
Eugene Shvidler is a graduate of the I. M. Gubkin Moscow 
Institute of Oil and Gas with a masters degree in applied 
mathematics, and holds an MBA in finance and MS in 
international tax from Fordham University. He worked as 

senior vice president of Sibneft beginning in 1995 and 
served as president of the company from 1998 through 
2005. Mr. Shvidler is currently head of Millhouse LLC.  
He joined the Highland Gold Board of Directors in 
January 2008.

eugene tenenbaum
non-executive Director
Eugene Tenenbaum is a chartered accountant and holds 
a bachelors degree in commerce and finance from the 
University of Toronto. He worked as an accountant in the 
Business Advisory Group at Price Waterhouse in Toronto 
from 1987 until 1989, after which he spent five years in 
corporate finance with KPMG in Toronto, Moscow and 
London, including three years (1990-1993) as national 

director at KPMG International in Moscow. In 1994, he 
joined Salomon Brothers as a director for corporate 
finance. He later served as head of corporate finance 
for Sibneft in Moscow from 1998 through 2001. Mr. 
Tenenbaum is currently managing director of Millhouse 
Capital UK Ltd and a member of the Board of Chelsea FC 
Plc. He joined the Highland Gold Board of Directors in 
January 2008.

Duncan Baxter 
non-executive Chairman
Duncan Baxter joined the Company in 2002 and has 
played a pivotal role in ensuring compliance with 
international standards, has been finance director, 
corporate affairs director and now Chairman. He has 
been a resident of Jersey for 25 years where for 10 

years to 1998 he was Managing Director of Swiss 
Bank Corporation. Since then he has undertaken a 
number of consultancy projects for international banks 
and investment companies. He is also a Director of 
Alternative Investment Strategies Limited and Aberdeen 
Asian Income Fund Limited.

bOARd OF dIRECTORS
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Highland Gold Mining Limited for the year 
ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated bal-
ance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement 
and the related notes I to 40. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 110 of 
the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with ap-
plicable Jersey law as set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regula-
tory requirements and international Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. We also report to you if, in 
our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records or if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with 
the audited financial statements. The other information comprises only the chairman’s statement, 
managing directors’ report, chief financial officer’s report and the directors’ report. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsis-
tencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence 
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment 
of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we 
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presenta-
tion of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the group’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2008 and of its loss for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

Ernst & Young LLP
London
29 April 2009

INdEPENdENT AUdITORS’ REPORT

Independent auditors’ Report
to the Members of
Highland Gold Mining Limited
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Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses
Other income
Other expenses
Impairment charge

operating (loss)/profit

Foreign exchange loss
Finance revenue
Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year
 from continuing operations

Discontinued operation
Profit after tax for the year
from a discontinued operation

(Loss)/pRofit foR tHe yeAR

attributable to equity holders of the parent

10
11

12
13
14
25

15
16
17

18

19

20

150,449
(104,931)

45,518

(18,051)
1,306

(14,905)
(187,366)

(173,498)

(74,863)
18,116
(1,018)

(231,263)

5,009

(226,254)

–

(226,254)

112,100
(77,328)

34,772

(16,391)
275

(1,526)
–

17,130

(778)
1,350

(1,432)

16,270

(4,703)

11,567

5,883

 

17,450

(Loss)/earnings per share (us$ per share)

Basic, for the (loss)/profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

Diluted, for the (loss)/profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

(Loss)/earnings per share for continuing
operations (us$ per share)

Basic, for the (loss)/profit from continuing
operations attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

Diluted, for the (loss)/profit from continuing
operations attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

(0.701)

(0.701)

(0.701)

(0.701)

0.088

0.086

0.058

0.057

CONSOlIdATEd INCOME STATEMENT

Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008

notes 2008

us$000

2007
(restated)

us$000
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Assets

non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Mine properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets
Other non-current assets

total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Income tax prepaid
Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

total current assets

totAL Assets

eQuity AnD LiABiLities

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital
Share premium
Shares to be issued
Assets revaluation reserve
Accumulated losses

totAL eQuity

non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Long-term interest payable
Provisions
Deferred income tax liability

total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Income tax payable
Provisions

total current liabilities

totAL LiABiLities

totAL eQuity AnD LiABiLities

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2009 and signed on 
its behalf by:
Duncan Baxter    Olga Pokrovskaya
Chairman    Director

21
22
23
24
26

28
29

30

31

32

34
18

33
32

34

27,806
115,533
123,812

65,231
33,749

1,852

367,983

61,466
35,969

889
4,451

173,062

275,837

643,820

585
718,370

–
832

(299,743)

420,044

104,493
3,216
9,278

12,405

129,392

41,955
49,698

624
2,107

94,384

223,776

643,820

23,077
206,063

78,487
65,231
11,010

4,579

388,447

52,706
35,034

421
5,391

211,275

304,827

693,274

458
525,465

510
790

(72,612)

454,611

104,454
–

7,437
20,557

132,448

25,741
71,968

6,334
2,172

106,215

238,663

693,274

CONSOlIdATEd bAlANCE SHEET

notes 2008

us$000

2007
(restated)

us$000

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2008
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At 1 january 2007
(as previously
reported)

Restatement

At 1 january 2007 
(restated)

Profit for the year
Issue of share
capital
Share issue costs
Share-based
payment

At 31 December 2007

Loss for the year
Issue of share capital
Deferred tax
allocated to the
revaluation reserve
Share-based
payment

At 31 December 2008

325

–

325

–

133
–

–

458

–
127

–

–

585

6

27

18

27

334,800

–

334,800

–

200,051
(9,386)

–

525,465

–
192,905

–

–

718,370

510

–

510

–

–
–

–

510

–
(510)

–

–

–

790

–

790

–

–
–

–

790

–
–

42

–

832

(87,969)

(3,408)

(91,377)

17,450

–
–

1,315

(72,612)

(226,254)
–

–

(877)

(299,743)

248,456

(3,408)

 
245,048

17,450

200,184
(9,386)

1,315

454,611

(226,254)
192,522

42

(877)

420,044

CONSOlIdATEd STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2008

notes issued
capital

us$000 us$000 us$000 us$000 us$000 us$000

totalAccumulated
profits /
(losses)

Asset
revalua-

tion
reserve

shares
to be

issued

share
pre-

mium
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operating activities
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations
Profit before tax from discontinued operations

Adjustments to reconcile (loss)/profit before
tax to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of assets
Inventory write-down
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Exploration costs write-off
Share-based payments (credit)/expense
Interest income
Interest expense
Net foreign exchange loss
Movement in provisions
Gain on disposal of Darasun
Accounts payable write-off

working capital adjustments:
Increase in trade 
and other receivables and prepayments
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and other payables
Decrease/(Increase) in deferred stripping costs
Income tax paid

net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds received from Darasun disposal
Loans given to jointly controlled entity
Interest received

net cash flows used in investing activities

financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares
Share issue costs
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Receipts from Kazzinc to finance joint venture
Lease payments

net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

11
25

7&14.1

14
14.2

27
16
17
15

19
13

19
36

31

36

15

30

30

(231,263)
–

(231,263)

13,930
187,366

1,662

140
5,314

(1,030)
(18,116)

1,018
74,863

6,181
–

(890)

(19,850)
(10,991)

23,076
2,201

(10,216)

23,395

122
(146,122)

5,000
(19,296)

14,699

(145,597)

192,522
(9,386)
44,193

(79,492)
(11,492)

14,227
(2,075)

148,497

26,295
(64,508)

211,275 

173,062

16,270
5,883

22,153

11,753
–
–

343
812

1,135
(1,350)

1,432
778

(6,732)
(16,258)

–

(20,302)
(19,319)

4,368
(394)

(3,273)

(24,854)

–
(73,947)

9,868
(10,464)

924

(73,619)

200,184
(3,204)

136,809
(52,859)
(12,337)

12,418
(2,839)

278,172

179,699
–

31,576 

211,275

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008

CONSOlIdATEd CASH FlOW STATEMENT

notes 2008

us$000

2007
(restated)

us$000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Corporate information
The consolidated financial statements of Highland Gold Mining Limited for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2008 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 29 April 
2009. The ultimate parent entity of the Group, Highland Gold Mining Limited, is a public company 
incorporated and domiciled in Jersey. Its ordinary shares are traded on the Alternative Investment 
Market (“AIM”).
The principal activity is building a portfolio of gold mining operations within the Russian Federation.

2. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for fi-
nancial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in United States dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (US$000) 
except when otherwise indicated.

statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of Highland Gold Mining Limited and all its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 as applicable to the 
year ended 31 December 2008.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Highland Gold Mining 
Limited and all its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent 
company, using consistent accounting policies.
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at fair values at the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority 
interest. 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary ac-
quired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisi-
tion date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is dis-
posed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount 
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed 
of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
When the Group acquires a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the 
acquiree are not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in 
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required 
under the contract.

foreign currency translation
The United States dollar (“US dollar”) is the functional and presentation currency of all companies 
within the Group. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses result-
ing from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities into the functional currency at year-end official exchange rates are recognised in the 
income statement.

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS
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Average
RUR
GBP

Closing
RUR
GBP

interest in a joint venture
The Group has a contractual agreement with Kazzinc which represents a joint venture entity.
The Group recognises its interest in joint ventures using the proportionate method of consolidation 
whereby the Group’s share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint venture 
are combined with similar items, line by line, in its consolidated financial statements.
Joint ventures are accounted for in the manner outlined above until the date on which the Group 
ceases to have joint control over the joint venture.

property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings, plant and equipment
On initial acquisition, land and buildings, plant and equipment are valued at cost, being the pur-
chase price and the directly attributable costs of acquisition or construction required to bring the 
asset to the location and condition necessary for the asset to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.
In subsequent periods, buildings, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation and any impairment in value, whilst land is stated at cost less any impairment in value and 
is not depreciated.
Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost, less estimated residual values of buildings, plant 
and equipment (based on prices prevailing at the balance date) on the following bases:

• Mineral properties are depreciated using a unit of production method based on estimated eco-
nomically recoverable reserves, which results in a depreciation charge proportional to the depletion 
of reserves. 
• Buildings, plant and equipment unrelated to production are depreciated using the straight-line 
method based on estimated useful lives.

Where parts of an asset have different useful lives, depreciation is calculated on each separate part. 
Each item or part’s estimated useful life has due regard to both its own physical life limitations and 
the present assessment of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the item 
is located, and to possible future variations in those assessments. Estimates of remaining useful 
lives and residual values are reviewed annually. Changes in estimates which affect unit of production 
calculations are accounted for prospectively.

The expected useful lives are as follows:
Buildings      17 years
Plant and Equipment     7 – 14 years

The net carrying amounts of land, buildings, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level when events and changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. To the extent that these values exceed their recover-
able amounts, that excess is fully provided against in the financial year in which this is determined.
Expenditure on major maintenance or repairs includes the cost of replacement of parts of assets and 
overhaul costs. Where an asset or part of an asset is replaced and it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will be available to the Group, the expenditure is capitalised and 
the carrying amount of the item replaced is derecognised. Similarly, overhaul costs associated with 
major maintenance are capitalised and depreciated over their useful lives where it is probable that 
future economic benefits will be available and any remaining carrying amounts of the cost of previ-
ous overhauls are derecognised. All other costs, including repair and maintenance expenditure, are 
expensed as incurred.
Where an item of property, plant and equipment is disposed of, it is derecognised and the difference 
between its carrying value and net sales proceeds is disclosed as a profit or loss on disposal in the 
income statement.

25.552
0.500

24.546
0.501

24.874
0.539

29.380
0.691

The principal exchange rates against US dollars that were applied are:

31 December 200731 December 2008
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Any items of property, plant or equipment that cease to have future economic benefits expected to 
arise from their continued use or disposal are derecognised with any gain or loss included in the 
income statement in the financial year in which the item is derecognised.

exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to costs incurred on the exploration and evaluation 
of potential mineral reserves and includes costs such as exploratory drilling and sample testing and 
the costs of pre-feasibility studies. Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area of interest, 
other than that acquired from the purchase of another mining company, is carried forward as an asset 
provided that one of the following conditions is met:

• such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and exploration of 
the area of interest or alternatively, by its sale; 
or
• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which per-
mits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, 
and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing, or planned for the fu-
ture.

Purchased exploration and evaluation assets are recognised as assets at their cost of acquisition or 
at fair value if purchased as part of a business combination.
An impairment review is performed, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level, when 
there are indicators that the carrying amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable amounts. To 
the extent that this occurs, the excess is fully provided against, in the financial period in which this is 
determined. Exploration assets are reassessed on a regular basis and these costs are carried forward 
provided that at least one of the conditions outlined above is met.
Expenditure is transferred to mine development assets once the work completed to date supports 
the future development of the property and such development receives appropriate approvals.

Mine development expenditure
Capitalised mine development costs include expenditure incurred to develop new ore bodies, to 
define future mineralisation in existing ore bodies, to expand the capacity of a mine and to maintain 
production, and also interest and financing costs relating to the construction of mineral property. 
Mine development costs are, upon commencement of production, depreciated using a unit of pro-
duction method based on the estimated proven and probable mineral reserves to which they relate, 
or are written off if the property is abandoned. The net carrying amounts of mine development costs 
at each mine property are reviewed for impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit 
level when events and changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recov-
erable. To the extent that these values exceed their recoverable amounts, that excess is fully provided 
against the income statement in the financial year in which this is determined.

Mineral properties
The development costs are transferred to the mineral properties category when the asset is available 
for use; this is when commercial levels of production are achieved. The restoration provision cost is 
capitalised within mine assets. The cost of acquiring mine assets after the start of production is capi-
talised on the balance sheet as incurred. Mine assets are amortised using the units-of-production 
method based on estimated proven and probable mineral reserves. The net carrying amounts of 
mine assets are reviewed for impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit level when 
events and changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. To 
the extent that these values exceed their recoverable amounts, that excess is fully provided against 
the income statement in the financial year in which this is determined. 

Mineral rights
The cost of acquiring rights on mineral reserves and mineral resources including directly attributable 
expenses is capitalised on the balance sheet as incurred and included in the mineral rights category. 
Mineral rights are amortised using the units-of-production method based on estimated proven and 
probable mineral reserves. The net carrying amounts of mineral rights are reviewed for impairment 
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level when events and changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. To the extent that these values exceed 
their recoverable amounts, that excess is fully provided in the income statement in the financial year 
in which this is determined.

stripping costs
Stripping costs incurred in open-pit operations during the production phase to remove waste ore are 
charged to operating costs on the basis of the average life of mine stripping ratio and the average life 
of mine cost per cubic metre. The average stripping ratio is calculated as the number of cubic metres 
of waste material expected to be removed during the life of mine per ounce of gold mined. The aver-

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS
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age life of mine cost per cubic metre is calculated as the total expected costs to be incurred to mine 
the ore body, divided by the number of cubic metres expected to be mined. The average life of mine 
stripping ratio and the average life of mine cost per cubic metre are recalculated annually in the light 
of additional knowledge and changes in estimates. 
The cost of the “excess stripping” is capitalised on the balance sheet when the actual mining costs 
exceed the sum of the adjusted tonnes mined, being the actual ore tonnes plus the product of the 
actual ore tonnes multiplied by the average life of mine stripping ratio, multiplied by the life of mine 
cost per cubic metres. When the actual mining costs are below the sum of the adjusted tonnes mined, 
being the actual ore tonnes plus the product of the actual ore tonne multiplied by the average life of 
mine stripping ratio, multiplied by the life of mine cost per cubic metres, previously capitalised costs 
are expensed to increase the cost up to the average. 
The cost of stripping in any period will be reflective of the average stripping rates for the ore body as 
a whole. Changes in the life of mine stripping ratio are accounted for prospectively as a change in 
estimate. 

impairment
At each reporting date, management assess whether there is any indication of impairment within the 
categories of property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, management estimates 
the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
or its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or 
fair value less costs to sell.
Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recogn-
ised in the income statement.

Construction work in progress
Assets in the course of construction are capitalised in the construction work in progress account. On 
completion, the cost of construction is transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and 
equipment.
No depreciation is charged on assets in the construction work in progress account. These assets are 
depreciated upon their transfer to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment.

Leases

operating leases 
Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease payments are charged to the income state-
ment on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

finance lease 
Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of own-
ership to the Group, the assets leased are capitalised in property, plant and equipment at the lower 
of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments, on com-
mencement of the lease. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges 
so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obliga-
tions, net of future finance charges, are stated separately as finance lease liabilities. The interest cost 
is charged to the income statement over the lease period. The assets acquired under finance leases 
are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life or the lease term if the Group is not reasonably 
certain that it will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Goodwill 
Business combinations on or after 1 January 2006 are accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised in the balance 
sheet as goodwill and is not amortised. To the extent that the net fair value of the acquired entity’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is greater than the cost of the investment, a 
gain is recognised immediately in the income statement. Goodwill recognised as an asset is recorded 
at its carrying amount and is not amortised. 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, with the 
carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least annually and whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Where the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement. Further information is contained in Note 24.
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financial instruments

financial instruments classification and recognition
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contracts that 
give rise to them. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at 
initial recognition (which in the case of financial assets existing at the transition date, includes des-
ignation at that date) and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each 
financial year end. When financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured 
at fair value, being the transaction price plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through 
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. 
Where as a result of a change in intention or ability, it is no longer appropriate to classify an invest-
ment as held to maturity, the investment is reclassified into the available-for-sale category. 
Currently the Group does not have financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market, do not qualify as trading assets and have not been designated 
as either fair value through profit or loss or available for sale. Such assets are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement 
when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation 
process.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised where:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substan-
tially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, it 
continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the asset.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or is can-
celled or expires. Gains on derecognition are recognised within finance revenue and losses within 
finance costs. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liabil-
ity, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge its risks 
associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially rec-
ognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as li-
abilities when the fair value is negative.
The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange 
rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. 

inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weight-
ed average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw material, direct la-
bour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but 
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the cost of completion and selling expenses. 
The inventories are segregated by the following:

• Gold in process which is valued at the average total production cost at the relevant stage of produc-
tion;
• Gold on hand which is valued on an average total production cost method;
• Ore stockpiles which are valued at the average cost of mining and stockpiling the ore;
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• Raw materials and consumables (including fuel and spare parts): materials, goods or supplies to 
be either directly or indirectly consumed in the production process which are valued at weighted 
average costs.

trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. A provi-
sion for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of 
the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimat-
ed future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is 
recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of, or that is 
classified as held for sale, and: (a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations; (b) is part of a single plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographi-
cal area of operations; or (c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Earnings and 
cash flows of discontinued operations, if any, are disclosed separately from continuing operations 
with comparatives being re-presented. 

share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value 
of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is presented in the notes as share 
premium.

value added tax 
Gold production and subsequent sales are not subject to output value added tax. Input VAT is re-
coverable against income tax. Where input VAT is not recoverable the VAT provision is created on the 
balance sheet corresponding with the income statement in a relevant period.

Borrowings
Borrowings are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest costs on bor-
rowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalised, during the 
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. All other bor-
rowing costs are expensed. 

trade and other payables
Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations under the contract; 
they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

provisions for liabilities and charges
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

environmental protection, rehabilitation and closure costs
Provision is made for close down, restoration and environmental clean up costs (including the dis-
mantling and demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of dis-
turbed areas), where there is a legal or constructive obligation to do so, in the accounting period in 
which the environmental disturbance occurs, based on the estimated future costs. Where material, 
the provision is discounted and the unwinding of the discount is shown as a finance cost in the in-
come statement. At the time of establishing the provision, a corresponding asset, is capitalised and 
depreciated on a unit of production basis.
The provision is reviewed on an annual basis for changes in cost estimates or lives of operations.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent that 
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably mea-
sured. Gold sale revenue is recognised when the product has been dispatched to the purchaser and 
is no longer under the physical control of the producer.
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employee benefits
Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds, 
paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health services) are 
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group. 

pension plan
The Group pays contributions to personal pension schemes of employees, which are administered 
independently of the Group. The Group has an obligation to make one time payments to the employ-
ees when they retire. This obligation is calculated by multiplying the monthly salary by the whole 
amount of years worked at the entity.

share Based payments

equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at 
the date at which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which 
ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is 
determined using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is 
taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Com-
pany (market conditions).
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the 
market condition is satisfied, provided that all other vesting conditions are satisfied.
At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement 
or otherwise of non-market conditions and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described 
above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in 
the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, 
and any cost not yet recognised in the income statement for the award is expensed immediately. 
Any compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is 
deducted from equity, with any excess over fair value being treated as an expense in the income 
statement.

Cash-settled transactions
The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured at fair value using an appropriate option pricing 
model. Fair value is established initially at the grant date and at each balance sheet date thereafter 
until the awards are settled. During the vesting period a liability is recognised representing the prod-
uct of the fair value of the award and the portion of the vesting period expired as at the balance sheet 
date. From the end of the vesting period until settlement, the liability represents the full fair value of 
the award as at the balance sheet date. Changes in the carrying amount of the liability are recognised 
in profit or loss for the period. 

earnings per share
Earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the reporting 
year. 
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income taxes
Current tax for each taxable entity in the Group is based on the local taxable income at the local 
statutory tax rate enacted at the balance sheet date and includes adjustments to tax payable or re-
coverable in respect of previous periods. The income tax charge/(credit) comprises current tax and 
deferred tax and is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
Deferred income tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method in respect of tax losses 
carried forward and temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, except as indicated below.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary difference except:

• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and inter-
ests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and
• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and in-
terests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and re-
duced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. To the extent that an asset not previously 
recognised fulfils the criteria for recognition, a deferred income tax asset is recorded.
Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the periods in which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.



36 Highland Gold Mining Limited

4. Critical accounting Estimates and Judgements in applying accounting Policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and li-
abilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judge-
ments, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. 
Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial state-
ments and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year include:

impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. 
For the purposes of the asset valuation and impairment testing, Management has determined that 
the goodwill created under the Highland/Barrick transaction is allocated to the entire Highland group 
of assets as the whole Group is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. 
Management firmly believes that the identified goodwill directly represents the increased portfolio 
value that is expected to accrue to Highland shareholders following the direct integration of Barrick 
executives into the Highland Board of Directors, seconded Barrick personnel, directly hired former 
Barrick Russia/Asia personnel together with the incorporation of Barrick’s proven expertise and best 
industry practices. 

tax legislation
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations. 

Deferred income tax asset recognition
The net deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future deductions from tax-
able profits and should be recorded on the balance sheet. Deferred income tax assets are recorded 
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. Management estimated that the 
deferred tax asset can be recognised only to the amount equal to deferred tax liabilities for each 
separate legal entity of the Group. The future taxable profits are not considered in determining the 
amount of deferred tax assets recognised as the Group entities have history of losses accumulation 
and their profit forecasts are subject to significant level of uncertainties. 
No deferred tax benefit is recognised in respect of the Novo and Mayskoye impairment provision, site 
restoration provision and obsolescence reserve due to the insufficient forecasted income against 
which the losses could be offset. 

site restoration provision
The Group engaged SRK Consulting Ltd. to evaluate the cost of site restoration at Mnogovershinnoye 
based on government requirements applicable to similar sites that have closed recently, and as-
sumptions regarding the life of mine (which is assumed to close in 2012), expected site restoration 
activities (removal of waste, restoration of mine sites), current prices for similar activities and a risk-
free discount rate of 5% (2007: 5%). A risk-free discount rate of 10% has been used to calculate the 
site restoration liability at Novo assuming its closure in 2024. No site restoration liability has been 
recognised at Novo in 2007.

Discount rates affecting impairment calculations
For impairment testing, Highland Gold Management used a pre-tax deflated discount rate of 9.5% 
(2007: 10%) for US$-denominated cash flows and 13.5% (2007: 10%) for RUR-denominated cash 
flows. The cash flows of each asset were adjusted for project specific risk (production risk, cost esti-
mation risk, reserve/resource risk etc).

inventory obsolescence
The Group entities review inventory turnover variances from the established standards by category 
and investigate significant variances. If the Group entities identify impairment indicators, the ob-
solescence provision is then recognised at the balance sheet. The movement in the obsolescence 
provision is recognised in the income statement.

Going concern
Management considered that the Group will continue as a going concern. In making this judgement 
management considered current intentions and financial position of the Group. 
The group meets its day to day working capital requirements through its positive cash balance and 
bank facilities. The current economic conditions create a stability regarding the demand for and pric-
es of gold. 
The group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in market op-
portunities, show that the group has adequate recourses to continue the operational existence for 
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the foreseeable future. Post year end, the Group continued negotiations with selected banks. Follow-
ing these negotiations, the Group signed an agreement on 16 March 2009 with Unicredit Bank for a 
committed facility of US$10 million, at an annual interest rate of 10%. 

Determination of ore reserves and resources
The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources in accordance with the rules and require-
ments of the Russian State Committee for Reserves (GKZ) as well as in accordance with JORC.
Reserves and resources estimated in accordance with JORC have been used in the units of produc-
tion calculation for depreciation as well as the determination of the timing of mine closure costs and 
impairment analysis, as management view the JORC reserves as a more accurate approximation of 
the reserves that will ultimately be recovered.
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves. Assumptions that are valid at 
the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. Changes 
in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change 
the economic status of reserves and may ultimately result in the reserves being restated.

exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires 
judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely, which may 
be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made 
may change if new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, information 
becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalised is 
written off in the income statement in the period when the new information becomes available.

5. New standards 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as 
follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 Janu-
ary 2008:

• IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements;
• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 
Interaction;
• Amendment to IFRS 2 – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations effective 1 January 2009;
• Amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs effective 1 January 2009;
• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes effective 1 July 2008;
• IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Amendments – Reclassification of Financial Assets effective 1 July 2008;
• IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation effective 1 October 2008;

Adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance 
or position of the Group.

effective from 1 january 2009

IAS 1   Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)
IAS 32 and IAS 1  Amendment – Puttable Financial Instruments 
   and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
IFRS 1 and IAS 27 Amendments – Cost of Investment in Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 2   Amendment to IFRS 2 – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
IFRS 8   Operating Segments
IFRS 7   Amendments to IFRS 7 –
   Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

effective from 1 july 2009

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)
IAS 39 Amendment – Eligible Hedged Items
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised)

international financial Reporting interpretations Committee (ifRiC)

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009
IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers 1 July 2009
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Continuing operations

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses
Other income
Other expenses

operating profit

Foreign exchange loss
Finance revenue
Finance costs

profit before income tax

Income tax expense

profit for the year
from continuing operations

112,100
(77,328)

34,772

(16,391)
275

(1,526)

17,130

(778)
1,350

(1,432)

16,270

(4,703)

11,567

112,100
(75,396)

36,704

(16,391)
275

(1,526)

19,062

(778)
1,350

(2,217)

17,417

(5,201)

12,216

–
1,932

1,932

–
–
–

1,932

–
–

(785)

1,147

(498)

649
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aSSETS

non-current assets
Exploration
and evaluation assets
Mine properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets
Other non-current assets

total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Income tax prepaid
Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

total current assets

TOTaL aSSETS

EQUITY aND LIaBILITIES 

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital
Share premium
Shares to be issued
Assets revaluation reserve
Accumulated losses

TOTaL EQUITY

non-current liabilities 
Interest-bearing loans
and borrowings
Provisions
Deferred income tax liability

total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans
and borrowings
Income tax payable
Provisions

total current liabilities

TOTaL LIaBILITIES

TOTaL EQUITY
aND LIaBILITIES

23,077
206,063

78,487
65,231
11,010

4,579

388,447

52,706
35,034

421
5,391

211,275

304,827

693,274

458
525,465

510
790

(72,612)

454,611 

104,454
7,437

20,557

132,448

25,741

71,968
6,334
2,172

106,215

238,663

693,274

23,077
215,978

72,528
65,231
11,010

3,812

391,636

54,452
35,383

–
6,158

211,275

307,268

698,904

458
525,465

510
790

(68,555)

458,668

104,454
7,437

22,130

134,021

25,741

71,968
6,334
2,172

106,215

240,236

698,904

–
(9,915)

5,959
–
–

767

(3,189)

(1,746)
(349)

421
(767)

–

(2,441)

(5,630)

–
–
–
–

(4,057)

(4,057)

–
–

(1,573)

(1,573)

–

–
–
–

–

(1,573)

(5,630)

us$000 us$000 us$000

restatement2007
(as previously

reported)

2007
(restated)

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
adjustments
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prior year adjustments:

Movement from Gkz to joRC reserves
The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources in accordance with the rules and re-
quirements of the Russian State Committee for Reserves (GKZ) as well as in accordance with JORC. 
The Group has been using GKZ reserves for the depreciation purposes under the unit of production 
method until 2008. In 2008 the management decided to use JORC reserves instead of GKZ as being 
more accurate. This has resulted in the increase of the depreciation charge as the JORC reserves 
are significantly lower than GKZ. Whilst IFRS does not prescribe what reserve basis to use for the 
purposes of depreciation calculation, industry practice is to use the reserve estimates certified in 
accordance with the Western reserves classification (ie JORC). 
As the JORC reserve figures were first available in 2006 the use of GKZ reserves for the purposes of 
the depreciation calculations constitutes an error in previous years. 
This change has been applied retrospectively. This restatement resulted in an increase to the ac-
cumulated depreciation at 31 December 2007 of US$10.7 million. The depreciation charge in 2007 
was increased by US$5.6 million, with retained losses at 1 January 2007 being increased by US$5.1 
million.

errors in the inventory costing model
The following corrections affected the Group’s work in progress: 

• Accurate allocation of the depreciation charge calculated using the JORC reserves;
• The cost of ore stockpiles has been recalculated on a tonnes mined basis resulting in an under-
statement of WIP (previously it was calculated based on contained ounces), and
• The model assumed that 100% of gold in circuit was at the beginning of this stage of production 
resulting in an overestimation of the costs to complete.

This correction resulted in an increase to the inventories at 31 December 2007 of US$4.2 million. The 
depreciation charge in 2007 was decreased by US$2.1 million and operating costs were decreased 
by US$1.5 million, with retained losses at 1 January 2007 being decreased by US$0.6 million.

other debtors adjustment
Accurate recognition of the insurance costs resulted in an increase to the debtors at 31 December 
2007 of US$0.073 million with an increase to the operating costs for the same amount.

Capitalisation of kazzinc interest at novo
Under its accounting policy, the Group capitalises the borrowing costs on its development projects. 
The Group expensed interest accrued under the Kazzinc loan received for the development purposes 
at Novo in 2007. 
Capitalisation of Kazzinc interest at Novo resulted in an increase to the mine properties at 31 Decem-
ber 2007 of US$0.8 million. The finance costs were decreased by US$0.8 million. 

tax effect
The restatement resulted in a decrease of the deferred tax liability at 31 December 2007 of US$1.6 
million. The deferred income tax credit associated with the above transactions was US$0.5 million, 
with retained losses at 1 January 2007 being decreased by US$1.1 million.

Reclassifications
Some reclassifications were made in the balance sheet items to keep the presentation form consis-
tent with 2008 presentation. As a result of the reclassifications, property, plant and equipment was 
increased by US$6.0 million, inventories were decreased by the same amount due to the nature of 
the inventories being the items necessary to bring other items of PP&E to the condition necessary 
for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Prepayments were 
decreased by US$0.8 million with the simultaneous increase to other non-current assets by US$0.8 
million as the deposit paid for the operating lease is long-term.
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earnings per share (us$ per share)
Basic, for the/profit for the year
attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

Diluted, for the profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent

earnings per share for continuing operations (us$ per share) 
Basic, for the profit from continuing
operations attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

Diluted, for the profit from continuing
operations attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

earnings per share for discontinued operations (us$ per share)
Basic, for the profit from discontinued
operations attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

Diluted, for the profit from
discontinued operations attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent

7. Interest in a joint venture

The Group has a 48.3% interest in OAO Novoshirokinskoye (“Novo”). On 1 December 2006 the Group 
signed a joint venture agreement with Kazzinc with the purpose of further developing the Novoshi-
rokinskoye polimetallic deposit. The interest in this joint venture is accounted using the proportion-
ate method of consolidation.
The share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity at 31 Decem-
ber 2008 and 2007 and for the years then ended, which are included in the consolidated financial 
statements, are as follows:

Current assets
Non-current assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

net (liabilities)/assets

Revenue
Cost of sales
Administrative expenses
Loss on fixed asset impairments
WIP write-down
Foreign exchange loss
Finance costs
Other operating expenses

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

(Loss)/profit after tax

7,234
1,214

8,448

(8,233)
(28,644)

(36,877)

(28,429)

457
(742)
(155)

(79,470)
(1,662)

(417)
(27)
(92)

(82,108)
213

(81,895)

5,971
39,205

45,176

(1,749)
(12,631)

(14,380)

30,796

–
(42)
(64)

–
–

(22)
–

(7)

(135)
510

375

restatement2007
(as previously

reported)

2007
(restated)

2008 2007
(restated)

earnings per share effect

(0.003)

(0.003)

(0.003)

(0.003)

–

–

0.091

0.089

0.061

0.060

0.030

0.029

0.088

0.086

0.058

0.057

0.030

0.029
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Audit of the group financial statements(a)

Other fees to auditors:
– Local statutory audits for subsidiaries
– Fees in relation to previous year Group audit
–  Fees in relation to previous year 

subsidiaries audit
– All other services

1,106

30
411

32
21

1,600

1,231

26
125

–
8

1,390

–

137
–

–
–

137

–

133
–

–
–

133

8. Segment information

The Group has only one business segment as it operates in one principal area of activity, that of ex-
ploration and production of gold. 
The Group has only one geographical segment as it builds its portfolio of gold mining entities operat-
ing on the territory of the Russian Federation. 

9. auditors’ remuneration

The Group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial state-
ments and other services provided to the Group.

(a)US$9,911 (2007 – US$5,900) of this relates to the parent company.

10. Revenue 

The Group operates in one principal area of activity, that of exploration and production of gold.

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

Domestic sales
Export sales
Other sales

98,372
9,094
5,298

112,764

664
–
–

664

97,708
9,094
5,298

112,100

–
–
–

–

143,809
–

6,640

150,449

143,809
–

6,640

150,449

Operating costs
Employee benefits expense
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
Provision for obsolete items charge
Raw materials and consumables used
Taxes other than income tax

Depreciation of owned assets
Depreciation of leased assets

Employee benefits consist of:

Salaries and wages
Pension costs

21,743
27,432
13,930

569
31,174
10,083

104,931

11,218
2,712

13,930

27,385
47

27,432

10,547
22,478
11,753

539
25,261

6,750

77,328

9,366
2,387

11,753

22,282
196

22,478

2008 2008

2008

2008

2008

2007

2007

2007

2007
ernst & young others

totaltotal Discontinued
operations

Discontinued
operations

Continuing
operations

Continuing
operations

2007
(restated)

11. Cost of sales
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Selling and distribution expenses
Minimum lease payments recognised
as an operating lease expense
Auditors’ fee
Salaries and wages
Share-based payments (credit)/expense

13. Other income

Financial aid from Barrick
Accounts payable write-off
Other

total other operating income

14. Other expenses

WIP write-down
Exploration licenses write-off
Loss on asset disposal
Donations
Contract termination penalty
Shortage loss
Other

total other expenses

14.1
14.2

Interest receivable from joint venture
Bank interest receivable

total finance revenue

3,326
14,790

18,116

–
1,350

1,350

14.1 wip write-down
US$1.7 million of WIP write-down represents 48.3% of Highland share in Novo WIP write-down in 
2008. Due to the dramatic fall of commodity prices for zinc and lead in 2008, net realisable value test 
at Novo indicated the loss of value of the Novo work in progress balance.

14.2 exploration licenses write-off
During 2008, following the receipt of unsuccessful drilling results, the capitalised costs related to the 
Sovinoye (US$3.9 million) and Maya-Inikan (US$1.4 million) licenses have been written-off to the 
income statement. The written-off exploration expenses associated with the Vozdvizhenskoye and 
Malo-Fedorovskoye licenses were US$0.8 million in 2007.

15. Foreign exchange loss

The total amount of foreign exchange losses for the year ended 31 December 2008 was US$74.9 mil-
lion (2007: US$0.8 million) resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from 
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies such as Russian 
Roubles and pounds into the functional currency. The increase of foreign exchange losses was affect-
ed by the considerable devaluation of the Russian Rouble by 19.7% in 2008 (2007: strengthening by 
6.8%) and of the pound by 37.9% (2007: strengthening by 2.0%). US$64.5 million of the total foreign 
exchange loss was attributable to the movement and translation of pound-denominated deposits. 

16. Finance revenue

2,695

2,431
1,737
1,235

(1,030)

–
890
416

1,306

1,662
5,314

140
716

3,162
1,164
2,747

14,905

2,512

2,336
1,523
1,638
1,135

275
–
–

275

–
812
343
222

–
–

149

1,526

Included in administrative expenses:

12. administrative expenses

2008

2008

2008

2008

2007

2007

2007

2007
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Accounting (loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations
Profit before tax from a discontinued operation

Accounting (loss)/profit before income tax

At Russian statutory income tax rate of 24%
Change in tax rate
Non–deductible expenses
Losses arising from the Novo impairment
Losses arising from the Mayskoye impairment
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings and disposals
Unrecognised losses
Movements in other unrecognised temporary differences
Adjustments in respect of prior year current tax

income tax (benefit)/expense on continuing operations

Income tax (benefit)/expense reported in
the consolidated income statement
Income tax attributable to a discontinued operation

income tax (benefit)/charge in the income statement

A reconciliation between the actual tax expense and the expected tax expense based on the account-
ing profit multiplied by Russian statutory tax rate (24%) for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 
2007 is as follows:

Consolidated income statement

Current income tax:
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of prior year current tax

Deferred income tax:
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

income tax (credit)/expense reported in the income statement

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Deferred income tax related to items charged
or credited directly to equity:
Net gain on revaluation of assets due to the tax rate change

income tax (credit) reported in equity

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2008
and 2007 are:

18. Income tax

Bank loans
Finance charges payable under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts
Accretion expense on site restoration provision

total finance costs

201

409
408

1,018

6,842
(3,741)

3,101

(8,110)

(5,009)

(42)

(42)

(231,263)
–

(231,263)

(55,503)
(2,481)

7,521
19,072
17,997

9,917
1,700

509
(3,741)

(5,009)

(5,009)
–

(5,009)

761

317
354

1,432

6,760
(1,794)

4,966

(263)

4,703

–

–

16,270
5,883

22,153

5,317
–

2,183
–
–

(8,578)
7,064

511
(1,794)

4,703

4,703
–

4,703

17. Finance costs

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

2008

2008

2008

2007
(restated)

2007
(restated)

2007
(restated)
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(34,365)

(3,610)

(196)

(55)

(38,226)

29
6,781

172

2,471

1,936

141
14,291

25,821

(12,405)

(38,234)

(1,884)

(32)

(89)

(40,239)

50
1,670

626

2,288

679

93
14,276

19,682

(20,557)

(3,827)

1,726

164

(34)

(1,971)

21
(5,111)

454

(183)

(1,257)

(48)
(15)

(6,139)

(8,110)

6,283

(1,145)

32

75

5,245

(50)
886
(21)

(74)

(125)

(7)
(6,117)

(5,508)

(263)

(42)

–

–

–

(42)

–
–
–

–

–

–
–

–

(42)

–

–

–

–

–

–
–
–

–

–

–
–

–

–

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax at 31 December relates to the following:

No deferred tax benefits are recognised in relation to site restoration provisions, obsolescence provisions and impair-
ment loss. Restoration expenses are tax deductible when incurred. However, it is not certain that there will be sufficient 
income towards the end of the mine’s life against which the restoration expenditure can be offset and therefore future 
tax relief has not been assumed. 
The amount of the deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 
the site restoration provision at 31 December 2008 is US$7.5 million (31 December 2007: US$5.4 million).
No deferred tax benefit is recognised in relation to the provision for obsolete inventory. These materials are unlikely 
to be used for the production purposes in the future and therefore future tax relief is not assumed. The amount of the 
deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the obsolescence 
provision at 31 December 2008 is US$8.0 million (31 December 2007: US$7.9 million).
The amount of the deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 
the impairment provision at 31 December 2008 is US$154.5 million (31 December 2007: US$ nil). No deferred tax asset 
associated with the impairment loss has been recognised as there is no evidence of future taxable profit at Novoshi-
rokinskoye and Mayskoye which can be offset with the deferred tax asset. 
The amount of the deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 
the tax losses at 31 December 2008 is US$20.5 million as at 31 December 2008 (31 December 2007 restated: US$10.0 
million). The non-recognition of tax losses is due to insufficient expected future income against which these losses could 
be offset.
According to Russian tax legislation, tax losses expire if not utilised within 10 years of accruing. 

20082008 20082007
(restated)

2007
(restated)

2007

–
(20,557)

(20,557)

–
(12,405)

(12,405)

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities net

Deferred income tax liability

Property, plant and equipment

Inventory
Accounts receivable
and other debtors

Deferred financing costs

Deferred income tax assets

Accounts receivable
and other debtors
Inventory
Finance lease obligations
Provisions for liabilities
and charges
Trade accounts
and notes payable
Other accounts payable
and accrued liabilities
Tax losses

net deferred
income tax liabilities

Consolidated
statement of changes

in equity

Consolidated
income statement

Consolidated
balance sheet
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Property, plant and equipment
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Cash

total assets
Non-Current liabilities
Current liabilities

net liabilities

3,644
2,241

475
132

6,492
(7,026)

(724)

(1,258)

The carrying values of the major classes of assets and liabilities of OOO “Darasunsky Rudnik” at the 
end of 2007 were as follows:

Revenue
Expenses

Gross loss
Administrative costs
Other operating income

operating loss
Finance costs
Exchange loss

Loss for the year before tax from a discontinued operation
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation
Tax (expense)/credit

profit for the year from discontinued operation

664
(9,068)

(8,404)
(28)

1,326

(7,106)
(223)

(3,046)

(10,375)
16,258

–

5,883

At 31 December 2008, there was no recognised deferred tax liability (2007: nil) for taxes that would 
be payable on the unremitted earnings if the Group’s subsidiaries, or its interest in the Novo joint 
venture, as: 

• the Group has determined that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the 
foreseeable future; 
and 
• the joint venture of the Group, Novo, cannot distribute its profits until it obtains unanimous consent 
of the venturers. At the balance sheet date, Highland Gold Mining Limited did not foresee such con-
sent being given. Further the at the balance sheet date, no distributable profits exist.

The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and the joint venture, for 
which deferred tax liability has not been recognised aggregate to US$53.1 million (2007: US$40.7 million). 
The total deferred tax liabilities arising from these temporary differences should be between US$0 
and US$2.7 million (2007: US$0 and US$2.0 million), depending on the manner in which the invest-
ments are ultimately realised.
Under Article 123A of the Income Tax (Jersey) law 1961, as amended, the company has obtained 
Jersey exempt company status for the year and is therefore exempt from Jersey income tax on non 
Jersey source income and bank interest (by concession). A £600 annual exempt company fee is pay-
able by the company.
As from 1 January 2009 the exempt company regime will no longer apply. The general rate of corpora-
tion tax for companies resident in Jersey will be 0% from this date.
From 1 January 2009 the income tax rate has been reduced from 24% to 20% in the Russian Federa-
tion. This change affected the closing balance of the deferred tax liability and deferred tax asset be-
ing calculated at 20% as at 31 December 2008. The current tax charge was calculated at 24%.

19. Disposal

Darasun
On 24 October 2007, Highland Gold Mining Limited announced that it had completed the sale of its 
100% share in OOO “Darasunsky Rudnik”, owner of the Darasun, Teremky and Talatui mines in the 
Chita Region, Russia, for total cash proceeds of US$15.0 million to the Open Joint Stock Company 
“Uzhuralzoloto Group of Companies”. 
The results of OOO “Darasunsky Rudnik” for the year are presented below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

2007

2007
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There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares be-
tween the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements.
Diluted loss per ordinary share has not been disclosed as inclusion of unexercised options and  
warrants would be anti dilutive in 2008.

Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent from continuing operations
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent from a discontinued operation

net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for basic earnings per share
Effect of dilution:
Share options

weighted average number of ordinary shares
adjusted for the effect of dilution

(226,254)

–

(226,254)

’000

322,691

3,627

326,318

11,567

5,883

17,450

’000

198,660

3,578

 202,238

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing (loss)/profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year.
Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to ordi-
nary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the 
exercise of share options into ordinary shares.
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per 
share computations:

20. (Loss)/earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

0.030
0.029

Earnings per share from discontinued operations:

US$3.0 million of the proceeds was received upon signing of the agreement, with a further US$7.0 
million paid before the end of 2007. The remaining US$5.0 million was paid at the end of the first 
quarter of 2008.

Proceeds from Darasun disposal
Darasun’s net liabilities disposed
Loss for the year from a discontinued operation

net result from Darasun

The net cash flows are as follows:

Total disposal consideration received in cash
Cash and short-term deposits in
OOO Darasunsky Rudnik on disposal

net cash inflow from disposal

15,000
1,258

(10,375)

5,883

2007

10,000

(132)

9,868

Net result from Darasun in the year 2007 was as follows:

2007
us$

2007

2008 2007
(restated)
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Cost as at 1 january 2007
Additions
Transfers
Write-off
Capitalised depreciation

Cost as at 31 December 2007 (restated)

Additions**
Transfers
Transfers from Exploration and evaluation assets
Write-off 
Capitalised depreciation

Cost as at 31 December 2008

Depreciation and impairment as  
at 1 january 2007 (restated)
Provided during the year
Write-off 

Depreciation and impairment as
at 31 December 2007 (restated)

Provided during the year
Impairment

Depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2008

net book value as at 31 December 2007 (restated)

net book value as at 31 December 2008

191,152
44,486
26,935

(180)
2,061

264,454

39,262
51,772

1,576
–

2,231

359,295

51,621
9,090

(64)

60,647

8,024
175,146

243,817

203,807

115,478 

1,862
394

–
–
–

2,256

–
–
–

(2,201)
–

55

–
–
–

–

–
–

–

2,256

55

193,014
44,880
26,935

(180)
2,061

266,710

39,262
51,772

1,576
(2,201)

2,231

359,350

51,621
9,090

(64)

 
60,647

8,024
175,146

243,817

206,063

115,533

22. Mine properties

Exploration and evaluation costs
Exploration expenditure written off
Other exploration costs
Exploration expense for the year

Exploration expenditure
Net assets
Capital expenditure and acquisitions
Net cash used in operation activities
Net cash used in investing activities

5,314
–

5,314

27,806
28,666
11,619

–
9,715

812
–

812

23,077
12,390

3,299
–

7,500

Unsuccessful Exploration and evaluation expenditure has been recognised in ‘other expenses’ in the 
income statement in the amount of US$5.3 million (2007: US$0.8 million). 
The following financial information represents the amounts included within the Group totals relating 
to activity associated with Exploration and evaluation.

Cost as at 1 january 2007
Additions
Unsuccessful exploration expenditure derecognised

Cost as at 31 December 2007

Additions
Unsuccessful exploration expenditure derecognised
Transfer to Mine development assets

Cost as at 31 December 2008

net book value as at 31 December 2007
net book value as at 31 December 2008

20,590
3,299
(812)

23,077

11,619
(5,314)
(1,576)

27,806

23,077
27,806

21. Exploration and evaluation assets

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

us$000

us$000us$000us$000

2007
us$000

2008
us$000

totalDeferred
stripping

costs

Mine
development
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* At 31 December 2008 US$17.4 million (at 31 December 2007 US$17.4 million) of plant and equip-
ment costs relate to assets under finance lease with accumulated depreciation of US$10.5 million 
(31 December 2007: US$7.8 million).
** US$6.7 million of accumulated depreciation related to CIP as at 1 January 2007 was originated by 
the Darasun impairment in 2006.

Cost
At 1 january 2007
Additions
Transfers
Write-off
Disposal of Darasun

At 31 December 2007
(restated)
Additions
Transfers
Write-off
Disposals

At 31 December 2008

Depreciation
At 1 january 2007**
Provided during the year
Write-off
Disposal of Darasun
Capitalised depreciation

At 31 December 2007

Provided during the year
Write-off
Disposals
Impairment
Capitalised depreciation

At 31 December 2008

net book value:

At 31 December 2007
(restated)
At 31 December 2008

27,467
1,137
7,486

–
–

36,090 
50

4,853
–
–

40,993

19,193
618

–
–

241

20,052

630
–
–

3,618
649

24,949

16,038
16,044

66,396
9,876
7,347

(1,030)
(5,084)

77,505
5,223

12,211
(282)
(274)

94,383

24,031
4,176
(432)

(1,776)
1,820

27,819

5 ,276
(30)
(12)

8,602
1,582

43,237

49,686
51,146

32,588
29,025

(41,768)
–

(336)

19,509 
112,695
(68,836)

–
–

63,368

6,746
–
–
–
–

6,746

–
–
–
–
–

6,746

12,763
56,622

126,451
40,038

(26,935)
(1,030)
(5,420)

133,104 
117,968
(51,772)

(282)
(274)

198,744

49,970
4,794
(432)

(1,776)
2,061

54,617

5,906
(30)
(12)

12,220
2,231

74,932

78,487
123,812

23. Property, plant and equipment

12.75%
9.02%

12.75%
8.71%

Bonds
Loans

** Additions include US$13.8million of borrowing costs capitalised during the period (2007 restat-
ed: US$11.5 million).
The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation 
are as follows:

us$000us$000us$000us$000

2008 2007
(restated)

totalfreehold
building

Construction
in progress

 plant and
 equipment*
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Balance at 1 January and 31 December   65,231  65,231

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed annually to determine whether it is in excess of its value-
in-use. The value-in-use is determined at the cash-generating unit level, in this case being the entire 
Group, by discounting the expected cash flows estimated by management over the life of the mine.
The key assumptions used for its calculation are as follows:

• Production volumes;
• Discount rates;
• Metal prices; and
• Operating costs.

Recoverable reserves and resources are based on the proven and probable reserves and resources 
in existence at the end of the year.
Gold prices are based on management judgement as well as the world known analysts forecasts .
Cash costs are based on management’s best estimate over the life of the mine.
Discount rates are calculated considering the weighted average cost of capital and also reflect man-
agement’s estimate of the risk attached to the country in which it is based. The underlying cash flows 
of each mine/project are adjusted for the project specific risks (production risk, cost estimation risk, 
reserve/resource risk etc). The pre-tax discount rate is further adjusted for the inflation rate specific 
for each currency.
Estimated production volumes are based on detailed life of mine plans and take into account devel-
opment plans for the mines agreed by management as part of the long-term planning process.
The calculation of value-in-use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

• Recoverable reserves and resources.
• Future prices of gold.
• Discount rates.

The table below shows the key assumptions used in the value in use calculation.

Gold price
Discount rates

(5%)
3%

Assumption variation

Management believes that the following changes to the main assumptions would cause the carrying 
value of the goodwill to equal its recoverable amount. Therefore, any higher deviation would cause 
the carrying value of goodwill to exceed its recoverable amount and an impairment provision would 
be required

Pre-tax discount rate for US-cash flows in gold mining companies, %
Pre-tax discount rate for US-cash flows in polimetallic mining companies, %
Pre-tax discount rate for RUR-cash flows in gold mining companies, %
Pre-tax discount rate for RUR-cash flows in polimetallic mining companies, %
Gold price, US$ per ounce
Zinc price US$ per tonne
Lead price US$ per tonne

9.50
10.75
13.50
14.63

850
1,100
1,200

24. Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent goodwill arising from the Barrick transaction.

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

20072008

Assumptions
used in value

in use calculation



51Annual Report & Accounts 2008

Credit/(expense) arising from equity-settled
share-based payment transaction
Credit arising from cash-settled
share-based payment transaction

total credit/(expense) arising from
share-b ased payment transaction

877

153

1,030

(1,315)

180

(1,135)

The expense recognised for share-based payment transaction during the year is shown in the follow-
ing table:

27. Share-based payment plans

The loan to Novoshirokinskoye has a maturity date of 2015. Interest is earned at a rate of 15%  
(2007: 15%)

10,723
–

287

11,010

30,423
3,326

–

33,749

Loan given to Novoshirokinskoye
Interest receivable on loan given to Novoshirokinskoye
Other loans given

25. Impairment testing of non-current assets

25.1 novo impairment 
Total impairment charges of US$79.5 million were recognised in respect of Novoshirokinskoye joint 
venture.
The trigger for the impairment test was primarily the effect of the dramatic downfall of metal prices 
(zinc and lead).
In assessing whether an impairment is required to the carrying value of an asset, its carrying value is 
compared with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. Given the nature of the Group’s activities, information on the fair 
value of an asset is usually difficult to obtain unless negotiations with potential purchasers or similar 
transactions are taking place. Consequently, unless indicated otherwise, the recoverable amount 
used in assessing the impairment charges described below is value in use. The Group generally 
estimates value in use using a discounted cash flow model. The calculation of value in use is most 
sensitive to the following assumptions:

• Production volumes;
• Discount rates;
• Metal prices; and
• Operating costs.

Estimated production volumes are based on detailed life of mine plans and take into account devel-
opment plans for the mines agreed by management as part of the long-term planning process.
The Group generally estimates value in use using a discounted cash flow model. The future cash 
flows are adjusted for risks specific to the asset and discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 
10.75% (2007: 10%) for USD denominated cash flows and 14.63% (2007: 10%) for Rouble denomi-
nated cash flows. This discount rate is derived from the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.

25.2 Mayskoye impairment 
In 2008 the Group’s management reviewed the overall characteristics of Mayskoye in detail and 
came to the conclusion that it would be very difficult to obtain funding of the project under the cur-
rent market conditions. Therefore, it was decided to start negotiations with a potential purchaser of 
Mayskoye. 
Under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, if the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carry-
ing amount, the carrying amount shall be reduced to its recoverable amount. As it was decided to 
sell Mayskoye, its recoverable amount shall equal its fair value less costs for sale. Total impairment 
charges of US$107.9 million were recognised in respect of Mayskoye.

26. Financial assets
2008

2008

2007

2007
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Historical volatility (%)2

Risk-free interest rate (%)
Dividend yield (%)
Weighted average market share price, GBP
Weighted average exercise price, GBP
Expected life of option (years)1

–
–
–
–
–
–

61.43
4.37

–
0.89
0.96
2.25

1 The vesting period has been assumed to be the expected life of the option for the purposes of de-
termining the option’s fair value.
2Historical volatility was determined using the historical share prices of the Group for the last 43 
months.

share Appreciation Rights (sARs)
The SARs scheme is no longer applicable as the outstanding SARs of 468,924 at a price of 257.75 
pence expired on 1 December 2008. There is no liability left relating to SARs scheme at 31 December 
2008 (2007: US$153k).
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and move-
ments in, SARs during the year.

For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2008, the weighted average remaining contrac-
tual life is 4.69 years (2007: 5.96 years).
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £0.96 - £3.02 (2007: 
£0.96 - £3.02).
The fair value of the share based payments is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pric-
ing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 
December 2007. 

Outstanding as at 1 January
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year

Outstanding as at 31 December

Exercisable at 31 December

4,912,500
–

(2,412,500)

2,500,000

1,448,750

£1.83
–

£1.71

£1.95

£1.97

3,645,000
1,842,500
(575,000)

4,912,500

1,285,000

£2.29
£1.01
£2.11

£1.83

£1.91

employee share option plan

On July 7, 2005 the Group approved an employee share option scheme in line with the statement 
made at the time of Admission to the Alternative Investment Market in December 2002. The scheme 
runs in conjunction with the Company’s Share Appreciation Rights scheme to allow flexibility when 
considering the employment incentives for executives. The scheme is managed by the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee. 
During the 12 months ended 31 December 2008 the Group did not issue any new share options as 
the Board considered and agreed that at the present time there would be no further grant of options 
under the unapproved share option scheme. Previously each grant of options was divided into four 
equal parts which could be exercised starting from the first anniversary of the date of grant for the 
first part, the second anniversary for the second part etc. until the fourth anniversary. Further it was 
agreed that for those still in the scheme their options would vest and that 50% would be exercisable 
up and until 30 September 2009 at which point thereafter all options could be exercised up to the 
seventh anniversary from when the options were granted.
Options for 2,412,500 shares have been forfeited because of the retirement of certain participants. 
No share options have been exercised. 
Currently there are 31 participants of the scheme representing board members, directors and execu-
tive management of the Group.
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and move-
ments in, share options during the year.
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2008 2007

2007
wAep

2008
wAep

2007
no.

2008
no.
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At 1 January
Utilisation

At 31 December

211
(121)

90

1,842
(1,631)

211

The VAT provision is recognised to reflect the risk of non-receipt of input VAT refund which is subject 
to approval by local tax authorities and other amounts expected to expire after the three-year statu-
tory period.

The last tranche from Uzhuralzoloto for Darasun sale was received by the Group in the first quarter 
of 2008.
Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 days term.
As at 31 December, VAT receivable was provided for as follows:

Receivable from Uzhuralzoloto in relation to Darasun
VAT receivable
Receivables from joint venture
Other receivables

–
32,302

210
3,457

35,969

5,000
26,046

498
3,490

35,034

29. Trade and other receivables

No inventory has been pledged as security.

Raw materials and consumables
Gold in progress
Finished goods

Obsolescence provision

total inventories

56,863
12,294

124

69,281

(7,815)

61,466

48,385
12,134

39

60,558

(7,852)

52,706

28. Inventories

1 The contractual period has been assumed for 2007 to be the expected life of the option for the pur-
poses of determining the option’s fair value.

Historical volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Weighted average market share price, GBP
Weighted average exercise price, GBP
Expected life of option (years)1

–
–
–
–
–

61.43
4.50
1.59
2.58

1.0

For the cash-settled transactions the fair value is established initially at the grant date and at each 
reporting date thereafter until the awards are settled with changes in fair value recognised in profit 
and loss. The fair value of the SARs is measured by means of Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted. The following 
table lists the inputs to the model.

£2.57
£2.58
£2.56

£2.58

£2.58

787,521
(18,898)

(299,699)

468,924

468,924

£2.58
–

£2.58

–

–

468,924
–

(468,924)

–

–

Outstanding as at 1 January
Forfeited during the year
Expired during the year

Outstanding as at 31 December

exercisable at 31 December

2008

2008

2007

2007

2007
wAep

2008
wAep

2007
no.

2008
no.

2008

2008

2007
(restated)

2007
(restated)
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30. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate 
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair 
value of cash and cash equivalents is US$173,062 (2007: US$211,275).

NOTES TO THE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

Cash in hand and at bank
Short-term deposits

5,401
167,661

173,062

12,966
198,309

211,275

31. Issued capital and reserves

a) issued share capital

400,000,000750,000,000Ordinary shares of £0.001 each

Authorised 2007
shares

Amount

2008
shares

shares

2008 2007

On 14 January 2008 the Authorised ordinary share capital was increased to 750,000,000 Ordinary 
Shares of £0.001 each. 

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid

325
133

194,917,450
65,050,000

At 1 january 2007
Issued on 4 December to Millhouse

458
127
0.4

259,967,450
65,050,000

179,648

At 31 December 2007
Issued on 15 January to Millhouse
Issued on 24 January to Barrick Gold Corporation

325,197,098 585At 31 December 2008

On 11 December 2007, 65,050,000 ordinary shares with an aggregate nominal value of US$133,000 
were issued to Primrod International Limited (owned by Millhouse LLC) at a price of 151 pence per or-
dinary share. As a result of the subscription, Highland Gold received US$200.2 million in December 
2007. A further 65,050,000 shares were issued to Primrod International Limited on 15 January 2008 
for an additional US$192.5 million.
On 24 January 2008, the second tranche of the share consideration for the Barrick transaction was 
issued. 179,648 of ordinary shares at a price of 145 pence per share were issued to Barrick Gold 
Corporation.

b) nature and purpose of other reserves

employee equity benefits reserve
The employee equity benefits reserve is used to record the value of equity-settled share-based pay-
ments provided to employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. 
Refer to Note 27 for further details of these plans.

Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increases in the fair value of land and buildings and 
decreases to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously rec-
ognised in equity. The reserve can only be used to pay dividends in limited circumstances.
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Terms and conditions of the financial liabilities included above:

• Salaries payable are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.
• Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-60 day terms.
• Interest payable is normally settled monthly throughout the financial year.
• Other taxes payable includes mineral extraction tax, property tax, social taxes and VAT. These are 
non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30-60 days.
• For terms and conditions in regards of related parties, refer to Note 36.

Trade payables
Received prepayment for gold sale
Other payables
Salaries payable
Other taxes payable
Other related parties
Interest payable

21,581
10,000

764
6,327
2,633

424
226

41,955

3,293
–

13,579
5,001
2,842

62
964

25,741

33. Trade and other payables (current)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the weighted average effective interest rate of bank loans was 
9.02% (2007: 8.71%).

Current 
Obligations under finance
leases and hire purchase
contracts (Note 33)
Corporate bonds,
Rub 750 million
Other loans:
$60 million bank loan

$15 million bank loan
$20 million bank loan
$15 million bank loan
$30 million bank loan
$30 million bank loan
$15 million bank overdraft

non-current
Obligations under finance
leases and hire purchase
contracts (Note 33)

Other loans:
Kazzinc
$60 million bank loan

$20 million bank loan
$30 million bank loan
$30 million bank loan

11.37

12.75

7.50
(2007: 8.60)

8.00
7.50

14.00
10.50

8.70
9.00

12.60

15.00
7.50

(2007: 8.60)
7.50

10.50
8.70

2008

April 2008

December 2011

July 2008
December 2013
November 2009
December 2011

May 2011
–

2009-2010

December 2015
December 2011

December 2013
December 2011

May 2011

1,585

–

13,846

–
1,739

15,000
9,060
8,468

–

49,698

505

27,430
27,692

18,261
18,462
12,143

104,493

2,075

30,555

13,440

15,000
–
–

2,308
8,571

19

71,968

2,090

12,418
41,540

–
27,692
20,714

104,454

32. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2008Maturity 2007

2008 2007
(restated)

effective
interest rate %
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13,840
–

354
(6,757)

–

7,437
–

408
1,146

8,991

–
8,991

8,991

–
7,437

7,437

4,583
–
–
–

(4,583)

–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–

–
–

–

2,277
–
–
–

(171)

2,106
–
–
1

2,107

2,107
–

2,107

2,106
–

2,106

1,199
(254)

–
–

(879)

66
(66)

–
–

–

–
–

–

66
–

66

–
–
–
–

–

–
–
–

287

287

–
287

287

–
–

–

21,899
(254)

354
(6,757)

(5,633)

9,609
(66)
408

1,434

11,385

2,107
9,278

11,385

2,172
7,437

9,609
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34. Provisions

site
restoration

provision

other
tax

provision

Legal
provision

special
case

provision

other total

site restoration provision
A provision is recognised for expected close down, restoration and environmental clean up costs 
based on the estimated future costs. It is expected that most of these costs will be incurred at the 
end of life of the operating mine. Assumptions used to calculate the provision for site restoration 
were based on the government requirements applicable to similar sites that have been closed re-
cently, and assumptions regarding the life of mine (which is assumed to close in 2012 at MNV and in 
2025 at Novo), expected site restoration activities (removal of waste, restoration of mine sites), and 
current prices for similar activities.

other tax provision
The provision for other taxes relates to the possible tax exposures associated with the OOO Dara-
sunsky Rudnik and MNV. The total amount of the provision was reversed due to the disposal of OOO 
Darasunsky Rudnik from the Group in 2007.

Legal provision
The legal provision relates to various possible claims towards the Group. It is assumed to be used or 
expire within the next two years.

special case provision
This provision is associated with the tragedy at Darasun in September 2006. The amount of the provi-
sion is based on the amount of claims. All claims were settled in full during 2008.

At 1 january 2007
Utilised
Accretion
Disposals
Unused amounts
reversed

At 31 December 2007
Utilised
Accretion
Provided during the year

At 31 December 2008

Current 2008
Non-current 2008

Current 2007
Non-current 2007
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35. Commitments and contingencies

operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has entered into a commercial lease on its office premises. This lease has a life of 7 years. 
There are no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into this lease.
The operating lease charge for the year ended 31 December 2008 was US$2,431k (2007: 
US$2,336k)
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as 
follows:

Contingent Liabilities
Management has identified possible tax claims within the various jurisdictions in which it operates 
totalling US$0.7 million as at 31 December 2008 (at 31 December 2007: US$ 13.3 million). In man-
agement’s view these possible tax claims will likely not result in a future outflow of resources, conse-
quently no provision is required in respect of these matters.
In addition, because a number of fiscal periods remain open to review by the tax authorities, there 
is a risk that transactions and interpretations that have not been identified by management or chal-
lenged in the past may be challenged by the authorities in the future, although this risk significantly 
diminishes with the passage of time. It is not practical to determine the amount of any such potential 
claims or the likelihood of any unfavorable outcome.
Notwithstanding the above risks, Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legis-
lation is appropriate and that the Group has complied with all regulations, and paid or accrued all 
taxes and withholdings that are applicable. Where the risk of outflow of resources is probable, the 
Group has accrued tax liabilities based on management’s best estimate.

Within one year
After one year
but not more than five years

Total minimum lease payments
Less amounts
representing finance charges

Present value of minimum
lease payments

1,585

505

2,090

–

2,090

2,484

2,276

4,760

(595)

4,165

2,075

2,090

4,165

–

4,165

1,738

538

2,276

(186)

2,090

Minimum
payments

Minimum
payments

present
value of

payments

present
value of

payments

2008 2007

2008 2007
(restated)

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

2,801
10,410

–

13,211

2,431
11,498

1,713

15,642

Capital commitments
At 31 December 2008, the Group had commitments of US$2.7 million (2007: US$15.0 million) prin-
cipally relating to development assets and US$1.2 million (2007: US$3.0 million) for the acquisition 
of new machinery.

finance lease and hire purchase commitments 
The Group has finance leases and hire purchase contracts for various items of plant and machinery. 
These leases have purchase options and escalation clauses. Future minimum lease payments under 
finance leases and hire purchase contracts together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments are as follows:
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36. Related party transactions

Details of the investments in which the Group holds 20% or more of the nominal value of any class 
of share capital are as follows:

name Country of incorporation shareholding %

subsidiary undertakings
Held by the ultimate parent
Stanmix Ventures Limited  Cyprus 100
Stanmix Investments Limited (STIL) Cyprus 100
Stanmix Holding Limited (Stanmix) Cyprus 100
  
Held by indirectly via 100% owned subsidiaries
  
Auberon Limited Cyprus 100
ZAO Mnogovershinnoye (MNV) Russia 100
OOO ZK Mayskoye  Russia 100
OOO Taseevskoye Russia 100
OOO Russdragmet (RDM)  Russia 100
OOO RDM-Logistika Russia 100
OOO Highland Gold Finance Russia 100
ZAO TH Mnogovershinnoye Russia 100
OOO Zabaykalzolotoproyekt (ZZP) Russia 100
OOO RDM-Resources Russia 100
OOO Trade House Mayskoye Russia 100
OOO Investment Mining
and Geological Company (IMGC) Russia 80
OOO ChOP Komandor Russia 100
Highland Exploration Kyrgyzstan LLC Kyrgyzstan 100

Jointly controlled entity  
OAO Novoshirokinskoye (Novo) Russia 48.3
  
The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant financial year (for information regarding outstanding balances at 31 
December 2008 and 2007, refer to Notes 24, 27 and 31):

Entity with significant
influence over the Group: 
Barrick Gold Services

Fleming Family & Partners

ST Balchug (Millhouse)

Joint venture in which
the parent is the venturer:
OAO Novoshirokinskoye

Partner
in the joint venture:
Kazzinc

2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007

2008
2007

2008
2007

–
355

–
–
–
–

6,700
5,339

–
–

–
275

–
–
–
–

–
–

–
–

32
38

–
24

–
–

53
–

339
–

–
–
–
–

478
378

210
498

–
–

–
155

–
120

2,431
2,336

5
8

444
–

Services/ 
Sales

provided  
to related  

parties

Financial  
aid  

provided  
by related  

parties

Services/ 
Sales

provided  
by related  

parties

Amounts  
owed by  

related  
parties

Amounts  
owed to  
related  
parties
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Joint venture in which
the parent is the venturer:
OAO Novoshirokinskoye

Partner in the joint venture:
Kazzinc

2008
2007

2008
2007

19,296
10,464

–
–

3,326
404

–
–

–
–

14,227
12,418

–
–

3,216
785

33,749
11,127

–
–

–
–

30,646
13,203

entity with significant influence over the Group

Barrick Gold services
Barrick Gold Services is a company controlled by Barrick Gold Corporation of Canada. Barrick Gold 
Corporation of Canada owns 20.37% of the ordinary shares in Highland Gold Mining Limited (2007: 
25.41%)

Millhouse LLC
Following the Second Subscription on new ordinary shares in Highland Gold Mining Limited on 15 
January 2008 by Millhouse LLC (through its subsidiary Primrod International Limited), Millhouse held 
32.01% (2007: 25.02%) of Highland Gold at 31 December 2008.

Persons connected with Eugene Shvidler, Non-executive Director of the Company, have acquired 
26,020,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 per share in the capital of the Company on 7 May, 2008 at a 
price of US$3.048 per share. Eugene Shvidler, together with the persons connected with him, own 
26,020,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 per share in the capital of the Company representing 8.0% of 
the total issued share capital of the Company. The new shareholders have agreed to be party to and 
abide by the terms of the Relationship Agreement between the Company and Millhouse LLC dated 4 
December 2007.

joint venture in which the parent is a venturer

oAo novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (novo)
The Group has a 48.3% interest in OAO Novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (2007: 48.3%). 

partners in the joint venture

kazzinc
Kazzinc and Highland Gold Mining Limited are the parties with joint control over OAO Novoshirokin-
skoye Rudnik.

terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding bal-
ances at year-end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no 
guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 
December 2008, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed 
by related parties (2007: Nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining 
the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments

total compensation
paid to key management personnel

Loans
given to
related
parties

Interest the
on the loan

given to
related

party

Loans
received

from
related
parties

Interest
on the loan

received
from the

related
party

Amounts
owed by

related
parties

Amounts
owed to
related
parties

2,442
204

2,646

4,151
718

4,869

2007
us$000

2008
us$000
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Directors’ interest in an employee share incentive plan
Share options held by members of the Board of Directors to purchase ordinary shares have the  
following expiry dates and exercise prices.

(67)
67

(66)
66

 +10%
–10%

+25%
–25%

2007

2008

+10%
–10%

+25%
–25%

4,169
(4,169)

5,851
(5,851)

+10%
–10%

+25%
–25%

15,551
(15,551)

41,873
(41,873)

37. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans and overdrafts, corporate bonds, fi-
nance leases, trade payables and hire purchase contracts. The main purpose of these financial li-
abilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets such as 
trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

Gold price risk
In year 2008 as well as in prior years, the Group continued its no hedge policy in relation to the gold 
price.

foreign currency risk
Taking into account that gold prices are formed in the international markets and denominated in US 
dollars, the Group seeks to mitigate the foreign currency risk by raising its debt facilities and most 
part of its trade liabilities denominated in US dollars. But as a result of investing and operating 
activities in Russia the Group’s balance sheet can still be affected by movements in the RUR/USD 
exchange rates. Besides, the Group also has transactional currency exposures connected with opera-
tions denominated in GBP. 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the EUR, RUR and 
GBP exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to 
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).
There is no other foreign currency impact on equity.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from debtor’s inability to make payment of their obligations to the Group as they 
become due (without taking into account the fair value of any guarantee or pledged assets); and by 
non-compliance by the counterparties in transactions in cash, which is limited to balances deposited 
in banks and accounts receivable at the balance sheet dates. To manage this risk, the Group deposits 
its surplus funds in highly rated financial institutions, establishes conservative credit policies and 
constantly evaluates the conditions of the market in which it conducts its activities. The Group sells 
the produced gold to recognised, creditworthy banks. The sold gold is being paid for in advance, or 
immediately after the sale. Therefore, there is no trade receivables associated with the gold trade. 
The Group’s no hedge” policy allows the Group to fully participate in current stronger gold prices.
Consequently, the Group does not expect to incur significant losses on account of credit risk. 

500,000
250,000

1,000,000
140,000
110,000

–
200,000
750,000
100,000

–

£1.60
£2.11
£3.02
£0.96
£1.22

2014
2012
2013
2014
2014

2005
2005
2006
2007
2007

Date of issue expiry date exercise price number 2008 number 2007

Increase/
decrease

in EUR rate

Effect
on profit

before tax

Effect
on profit

before tax

Effect
on profit

before tax

Increase/
decrease

in RUR rate

Increase/
decrease

in GBP rate
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Interest bearing
loans and
borrowings
Obligations
under finance
leases
Trade
and other payables

Interest bearing
loans and
borrowings
Obligations
under finance
leases
Trade
and other payables

8,661

642

22,337

31,640

10,835

592

29,145

40,572

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

72,694

1,842

–

74,536

47,436

1,146

–

48,582

108,887

2,276

–

111,163

101,615

538

–

102,153

15,979

–

–

15,979

32,039

–

–

32,039

206,221

4,760

22,337

233,318

191,925

2,276

29,145

223,346

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. Management considers as part of 
its capital, the financial sources of funding from shareholders and third parties. In order to ensure 
an appropriate return for shareholders’ capital invested in the Company, management thoroughly 
evaluates all material projects and potential acquisitions and has them approved by the Board where 
applicable.

interest rate risk
At 31 December 2008 and at 31 December 2007, the Group did not have any floating rate financial 
instruments.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool 
considers the maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets (eg accounts receiv-
ables, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, finance leases and hire purchase contracts. 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 
2008 and 31 December 2007 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 

year ended
31 December
2007

year ended
31 December
2008

on
demand

on
demand

Less
than 3

months

Less
than 3

months

3 to 12
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

1 to 5
years

> 5 years

> 5 years

total

total
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The fair values of USD denominated items have been calculated by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at prevailing interest rates of 9.9% (2007:10.0%). The fair values of Rouble denominated 
items have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates 
of 9.9% (2007:10.0%). 

39. Dividends

There were no dividends declared or paid in 2007 and 2008.

40. Events after the balance sheet date

On 16 March, 2009 the Group received a new 15 month US$10 million facility at a 10% interest rate 
with a pledge of fixed assets from Unicredit Bank. This facility will be used to finance development 
needs of the Group.
The Board of Highland Gold Mining Limited (“Highland Gold”, or the “Company”) has agreed to sell 
the issued share capital of its subsidiary Zolotrudnaya Kompaniya Mayskoye Limited Liability Com-
pany which owns the asset for a cash consideration of US$105 million to a group of Russian compa-
nies, one of which is JSC Polymetal. The transaction was completed on 28 April 2009.

38. Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, investments, cash, deposits, foreign ex-
change hedges and various items, such as trade debtors, trade creditors and contractual provisions 
arising in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group does not acquire, hold or issue derivative 
instruments for trading purposes.

fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s 
financial instruments.

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loan to Novo
Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Obligations under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts
Fixed rate borrowings
Fixed rate borrowings – Kazzinc
Trade and other payables

211,275
3,973
5,002

19

3,857
141,754

5,793
22,898

173,062
3,603

14,296

–

2,023
110,628

14,166
29,322

211,275
3,973

10,723

19

4,165
159,820

12,418
22,898

173,062
3,603

30,423

–

2,090
124,671

27,430
29,322

20082008 20072007

Carrying amount fair values
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1,038,000
2,227,000

3,265,000
4,134,000

168,879
272,800

4,057,587
1,030,766

5,088,353
103,967
953,761

1,057,729
27,846

5,199,554
4,380,406

9,579,960
4,434,646

100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
48.25%
48.25%

48.25%
48.25%

2,151,000
4,993,000

7,144,000
8,575,000

733,000
1,199,400

25,785,000
5,278,000

31,063,000
768,000

7,361,000 
 

8,129,000
288,000

28,704,000
18,365,000

47,069,000
10,062,400 

Measured
Indicated
Measured

+Indicated
Inferred

Indicated
Inferred

Measured
Indicated
Measured

+Indicated
Measured
Indicated
Measured

+Indicated
Inferred

Measured
indicated

Measured
+indicated

inferred

Mayskoye
(Sold 28 April 2009)

Mnogovershinnoye

taseevskoe

novoshirokinskoye

total

15.1
14.0

14.4
15.1

7.2
7.1
4.9
6.1

5.1
8.8
8.5

8.5
6.3

5.8
9.3

7.2
14.0

1,038,000
2,227,000

3,265,000
4,134,000

168,879
272,800

4,057,587
1,030,766

5,088,353
215,476

1,976,708

2,192,184
57,711

5,311,063
5,403,353

10,714,416
4,464,511

The reserve estimate does not include a silver assessment. The values shown are based upon a gold price of 
US$525 per ounce. MNV Mineral Reserves have been estimated in accordance with JORC guidelines, and include 
adjustments that have been made to reconcile the reserves with annual mine production.

Mnogovershinnoye

novoshirokinskoye 

total

–
579,379

579,379
89,354

818,443

907,796

89,354
1,397,822

1,487,176

–
100%

100%
48.25%
48.25%

48.25%

–
579,379

579,379
185,190

1,696,255

1,881,444

185,190
2,275,633

2,460,823

–
5.2

5.2
7.7
7.4

7.4

7.7
6.7

6.7

Proven
Probable

Proven
+Probable

Proven
Probable

Proven
+Probable

proven
probable

proven
+probable

–
3,461,300

3,461,300
745,000

7,140,000

7,885,000

745,000
10,601,300

11,346,300

Reserves as at 31 December, 2008 Reported
in accordance with JORC

Mineral Resources as at 31 December, 2008 Reported
in accordance with JORC

1. Resource estimations do not include a silver assessment.
2. MNV Mineral Resources are exclusive of Mineral Reserves. The values shown are undiluted and based upon a 
gold price of US$575 per ounce. MNV Mineral Resources include ore blocks not yet approved by GKZ. MNV Mineral 
Resources have been estimated in accordance with JORC guidelines, and include adjustments that have been 
made to reconcile the resources with annual mine production. 
3. Micromine Consulting completed a reserves estimate for the Mayskoye deposit in 2008. The table shows data 
for reserves with a 8 g/t cutoff grade.
4. Micromine Consulting also completed a reserves estimate for the Novoshirokinskoye and the Taseevskoye de-
posits in 2008.
5.The Novoshirokinskoye reserves estimate is performed for gold equivalent calculated as follows:
Au+Pb*0.632+Zn*0.722+Ag*0.0184.

RESERVES ANd RESOURCES

Project Name

Project Name

Classification

Classification

Ore, tonnes

Ore, tonnes

Gold, g/t

Gold, g/t

Contained gold, 
ounces

Contained gold, 
ounces

Highland’s
interest (%)

Highland’s
interest (%)

Gold ounces
attributable
to Highland

Gold ounces
attributable
to Highland
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HiGHLAnD GoLD MininG LiMiteD

jeRsey

CypRus

RussiA

stAnMix HoLDinG LiMiteD

RDM ResouRCes

zk MAyskoye
(sold 28 April 2009)

tH MnoGoveRsHinnoye

stAnMix ventuRes LiMiteD

RussDRAGMet

MnoGoveRsHinnoye

tH MAyskoye

stAnMix investMent LiMiteD

HiGHLAnD GoLD finAnCe

novosHiRokinskiy RuDnik

zABAykALzoLotopRoyekt

HiGHLAnD expLoRAtion LLC (kyRGyzstAn)

AuBeRon LiMiteD

RDM LoGistiCs

tAseevskoye

CHop koMAnDoR

PRINCIPAl GROUP COMPANIES
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Name    % Country of incorporation  Principal activity and  
         place of business

Stanmix Holding Limited  100 Cyprus    Holding Company, 
         Cyprus

Stanmix Investments Limited 100 Cyprus    Finance Company,
         Cyprus

Stanmix Ventures Limited  100 Cyprus    Dormant

Highland Exploration LLC  100 Kyrgyzstan   Holder of Unkurtash
         and Kassan licences

Highland Gold Mining Limited holds the equity 
share capital of the following companies:

Stanmix Holding Limited holds the equity share 
capital of the following companies:

PRINCIPAl GROUP COMPANIES

Name    % Country of incorporation  Principal activity and
         place of business

Auberon Limited   100 Cyprus    Dormant

Russdragmet (RDM) (OOO) 100 Russia    Management 
         company

Highland Gold Finance (OOO) 100 Russia    Investment company,
         Russia

RDM Logistics (OOO)  100 Russia    Logistics, Russia

ZK Mayskoye (OOO)  100 Russia    Holder of
(Sold 28 April 2009)       Mayskoye licence

Mnogovershinnoye (MNV) (ZAO) 100 Russia    Holder of MNV licence

Taseevskoye (OOO)  100 Russia    Holder of 
         Taseevskoye,ZIF-1
         and Sredne-
         Golgotayskoye
         licences

Zabaykalzolotoproyekt (OOO) 100 Russia    Project engineering,
         Russia

Novo-Shirokinsky Rudnik (Novo)  48,3 Russia    Holder of Novo licence
(OAO)

RDM Resources (OOO)  100 Russia    Holder of Maya, Inikan,
          Lyubov, Sovinoye,
         Iska and
         Belaya Gora licences

TH Mnogovershinnoye (ZAO) 100 Russia    Consumer durables
         for MNV employees

TH Mayskoye (OOO)  100 Russia    Consumer durables for
(Sold 28 April 2009)       Mayskoye employees

ChOP Komandor (OOO)  100 Russia    Security
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DIRECTORS, COMPaNY SECRETaRY aND aDVISERS

* Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee; 
** Chairman of the Health, Safety and Environment Committee;
*** Chairman of the Audit Committee.

all of: 26 New Street, 
St Helier, Jersey JE2 3RA

SHaREHOLDING STRUCTURE aT 20 aPRIL 2009

stock information
Listing sector/ticker   HGM.L
Number of shares in issue  325,197,098
Market capitalisation   £ 176.419 million US$ 261.100 million
     US$/£ rate: 1.48
Price high/low    Highest share price 20/04/08 to 20/04/09: 195p (28/04/08) 
     Lowest share price 20/04/08 to 20/04/09: 22p (27/10/08)
Liquidity    Average daily volume 20/04/08 to 20/04/09: 475,800

FINaNCIaL CaLENDaR

Post 2009 Annual Report   22 May 2009
Annual General Meeting   18 June 2009
2009 Interim Announcement  September 2009
2009 Interim Report    October 2009

CURRENT DIRECTORS

SOLICITORS TO THE COMPaNY

Duncan antony Hilder Baxter
Non-Executive Chairman*
(appointed 23 July 2008)

alexander John Davidson
Non-Executive Director**

Ivan Koulakov
Non-Executive Director

Nicholas Nikolakakis
Non-Executive Director

Terry Robinson***
Senior Independent Director
(appointed 25 April 2008)

Olga Pokrovskaya
Non-Executive Director
(appointed 28 January 2008)

Eugene Shvidler
Non-Executive Director
(appointed 28 January 2008)

Eugene Tenenbaum
Non-Executive Director
(appointed 28 January 2008)

HEaD OFFICE
aND REGISTERED OFFICE
26 New Street, 
St Helier, Jersey JE2 3RA

COMPaNY SECRETaRY
Bedell Secretaries Limited
26 New Street, St Helier,
Jersey JE2 3RA

NOMINaTED aDVISER 
aND BROKER
J.P. Morgan Cazenove
20 Moorgate, London EC2R 6D8

aUDITORS TO THE COMPaNY 
aND GROUP
Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF

REGISTRaRS 
Capita Registrars (Jersey) Limited
12 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey,
JE2 3RT

as to English Law 
Cobbetts
Ship Canal House,
King Street,
Manchester M2 4WD

as to Russian Law
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Kosmodamianskaya Nab. 
52 Bld. 5, 
115054 Moscow, Russia

as to Jersey Law
Bedell Cristin 
PO Box 75, 26 New Street,
St Helier,
Jersey JE4 8PP

BaNKERS
Royal Bank of Canada
(Channel Islands) Limited
19-21 Broad Street,
St Helier, Jersey JE4 8RR

TRaNSFER aGENT
Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road, 
Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU

PaST DIRECTORS

James Havelock Cross
Non-Executive Chairman
(resigned 23 July 2008)

Christopher David 
Palmer-Tomkinson 
Non-Executive and
Senior Independent Director
(resigned 23 July 2008) 

Timothy Charles Wadeson
Non-Executive Director
(resigned 23 July 2008)

Henry Horne
Managing Director
(resigned from the Board 28 Janu-
ary 2008)

Scott Perry
Chief Financial Officer
(resigned 28 January 2008)
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Highland Gold Mining Limited (the “Company”)

(Incorporated and Registered in Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended, 
with registered number 83208)

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Highland Gold Mining Limited (the Company) will 
be held on Thursday 18 June, 2009 at 26 New Street, St Helier, Jersey JE2 3RA at 11.00 am to consider and 
if thought fit, pass the following resolutions (1 to 6 below to be proposed as ordinary resolutions and 7 to be 
proposed as a special resolution);

Ordinary Resolutions

1.  To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors, the Audited Financial Statements and Auditor’s report for 
the year ended 31 December 2008

2. That Ivan Koulakov who retires by rotation as a Director of the Company be re-elected

3. That Alex Davidson who retires by rotation as a Director of the Company be re-elected

4. That Duncan Baxter who retires as a Director of the Company be elected

5.  That Ernst & Young LLP be re-elected as Auditors of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the 
next Annual General Meeting

6. That the Directors be authorised to fix the Auditor’s remuneration

Special Resolution

7.   That the Articles of Association of the Company be approved and adopted as the Articles of Association 
of the Company, in substitution for and to the exclusion of all existing Articles of Association (Note 6).

By Order of the Board
22 May 2009

Notes

1.  Any member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, to vote 
instead of him. A proxy need not also be a member of the Company. A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice to members.

2.  A form of proxy is enclosed which, to be effective, must be completed and deposited at Capita Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham 
Road, Beckenham, Kent, England BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting (or any adjournment of such 
meeting).

3.  Completion and return of a form of proxy does not preclude a member from attending and voting in person.

4.  Only those shareholders registered in the register of members of the Company as at 48 hours prior to the time fixed for the meeting 
(or, in the cause of an adjournment, as at 48 hours before the time of the adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend or vote at 
the meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Pursuant to Article 40(2) of the Companies 
(Uncertificated Securities Jersey) Order 1999, changes to entries on the register of members after such time shall be disregarded in 
determining the rights of any person to attend and vote.

5.  Director’s Service contracts and register of Directors’ interests in the Share Capital of the Company are available at the registered 
office of the Company for inspection during usual business hours on weekdays from the date of this notice until the date of the meet-
ing and at the meeting until the conclusion of the meeting.

6.  A copy of the new Articles of Association is available on request from the Company’s registered office at 26 New Street, St Helier, 
Jersey, JE2 3RA, and a copy is posted on the Company’s website at www.highlandgold.com.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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